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AlturA
Doing things  
Differently

“strength comes from 
DeDication, Diversity, anD also 
from Doing things Differently 
to everyone else. altura is 
stronger than ever – we have 
unpreceDenteD liquiDity, 
recorD growth anD a horizon 
of profitability, as we move 
three key projects into 
proDuction.”
– james brown, managing Director



1Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 2011

contents

our corporate vision

altura mining is aggressively 
builDing inDepenDently 
sustainable businesses that 
Deliver profitability, liquiDity 
anD growth in coal, iron ore 
anD harD rock lithium mining 
while continuing to Develop 
other exploration projects.

2 Overview of Projects

4 Message from the  
Managing Director

6 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

7 Corporate Overview

9 Review of Key Projects

10  COAl – TAbAlONg, INdONESIA

12  IRON ORE – MT WEbbER, AuSTRAlIA

14  lIThIuM – PIlgANgOORA, AuSTRAlIA

16  Review of Other Projects

18  Exploration Services

19 FINANCIAl REPORT

21 Corporate Directory

22 Directors’ Report

32 Auditor’s Independence Declaration

33 Corporate Governance Statement

36 Consolidated Income Statement

37 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

38 Consolidated Balance Sheet

39 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

40 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

41 Notes to the Financial Statements

74 Directors’ Declaration

75 Independent Audit Report to the Members

77 Additional ASX Information

79 Additional Shareholder Information



Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 20112

QUEENSLAND

NEW SOUTH
WALES

ACT
VICTORIA

SOUTH
AUSTRALIA

INDONESIA

TAS

NORTHERN
TERRITORY

WESTERN
AUSTRALIA

KALIMANTAN

Mt Webber
Pilgangoora

Balikpapan

Balline

Smithfield

Shoobridge

Tanami

Tabalong

Jakarta

Brisbane

SYDNEY

MELBOURNE

HOBART

PERTH

DARWIN

ADELAIDE

Finniss Range

Zinc, lithium and tantalum

Garnet and minerals

Altura’s alluvial garnet mineral sands 
project has all statutory approvals in 
place relating to the mining proposal, 
works approval and the licence for 
water extraction. Further evaluation 
studies are now being completed.

Altura Project Office

The big
PicTuRe

Altura Lithium

Our potential world-class lithium project. 
Drilling has revealed some of the 
thickest, shallowest and most consistent 
intersections of lithium in the world.

Mt Webber iron Ore

A key value driver for Altura will be 
the development of the Mt Webber 
iron ore mine with joint venture 
partner Atlas Iron (70%). With 
production scheduled for 2013,  
Mt Webber has the potential to 
deliver direct shipping ore as part  
of Atlas’ 12Mtpa production target.

overview of projects
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Asiadrill head Office
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Altura Asian Office

Base metals

Eight tenements covering an approximate 
350 km2 that are highly prospective for 
gold, silver, copper, zinc and lead.

lonG island uranium

Conditions permitting, drilling is planned 
for Altura’s Long Island uranium project 
- which is along strike from Thundelarra 
Exploration’s Thunderball discovery – in 
the 2011 field season.

Finniss ranGe lithium

Lithium, tantalum and base metal 
exploration with further evaluation and 
possible drilling in 2012.

Asiadrill Operations 
Office

Tabalong coal

Altura’s most advanced coal project, 
with mining approvals anticipated in 
2012. Further drilling is planned, with 
production to be fast-tracked next year.

Altura head Office

tanami Base and precious 
metals

Three exploration licence applications 
covering an area of approximately 
1,900 km2 with prospectivity for gold 
and copper.



messAge

“the next five years are pivotal 
in positioning altura as a key 
commoDity proviDer commencing 
with coal anD iron ore.”
– james brown, managing Director
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The year in review

Every journey begins with a single step. That 
being so, 2011 has been a giant stride in 
what is set to be an exciting and profitable 
journey for Altura.

When I look back over the past 12 months,  
I see that three essential elements for Altura’s 
future success have been laid down: we have 
unprecedented liquidity, a suite of outstanding 
projects and a team of skilled professionals 
dedicated to bringing our vision to reality.

Shareholders have put Altura in an enviable 
cash position through a 95% conversion 
of options which raised $18.6 million. This 
affirms the support in Altura’s current pipeline 
of projects and future direction.

The year ahead

Altura is on target to achieve its goal to 
become an emerging multi-commodity mining 
company, which in turn will further enhance 
internal growth.  

The next 24 months will be some of the 
most exciting in our history, as two of our key 
projects move into production.

We are now well placed to develop both of 
our near-term mining projects – Tabalong 
Coal and Mt Webber Iron Ore – which are 
slated for production during 2012 and 2013 
respectively.

The anticipated strong cash flows from 
these projects means Altura will be well-
positioned to fund further projects, including 
the feasibility and development phase of our 
exciting new Altura Lithium project.

beyond 2011–12

Altura has a clear vision, and we have the 
right people across all parts of our business 
who are committed and focussed on 
achieving our goals. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
our shareholders for their unwavering support 
of the company over the past year. I also 
extend my appreciation to my fellow directors, 
our executive management team and our 
staff for their valued insights, expertise and 
dedication throughout the year.

My appointment to the position of Managing 
Director of Altura in September 2010 has 
been a great privilege and challenge. With 
the ongoing support and commitment of the 
Board of Directors for the future direction 
of the company, we can continue to make 
confident strides forward.

Altura is focussed on moving robust projects 
into production to provide strong cash flows 
and further growth. I believe we are on a 
pathway to great success and I look forward  
to taking the next steps with all of you.

James brown 
Managing Director
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“altura is rapiDly proceeDing to 
proDuction of key commoDities 
in coal anD iron ore, with a 
portfolio extenDing across 
australia anD south east asia.”

fROM The 
MAnAging

diRecTOR



ReVieW Of
OPeRATiOnS

Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 20116



The 2010–11 Financial Year was a pivotal 
one for Altura. Two primary strategic 
initiatives had a significant positive impact  
on the company:

•	 A rights issue in September 2010 was fully 
subscribed and raised $16.9 million. As a 
result, Altura has enjoyed an enviable cash 
position with $18 million on hand

•	 The appointment of Mr James Brown 
to the position of Managing Director by 
Altura’s Board following his substantial 
contributions as the company’s Group 
General Manager and then company CEO.

Subsequent to the year end, Altura has 
received more than $18.6 million in funds 
through the exercise of listed options, which 
expired on 31 August 2011. More than 
95% of option holders took up their rights 
in the company, showing strong support 
for Altura’s current pipeline of projects and 
future direction.

Altura is now ready to fully fund two of its 
key projects into production. Current cash 
reserves are planned to be utilised in the 
following areas:

•	 Tabalong Coal mine development to 
production in 2012

•	 Mt Webber Iron Ore capital expenditure in 
2012 and production in 2013

•	 Altura Lithium at Pilgangoora – continued 
resource definition and feasibility

•	 Development and acquisition of other 
coal opportunities throughout South  
East Asia.

Rights issue

During the September 2010 quarter, Altura 
undertook a Rights Issue, which included 
a shortfall placement, raising $16.9 million 
before costs. Existing shareholders were 
entitled to subscribe for two new shares and 
two new options for every three shares held 
as at the record date.

The Rights Issue was supported by the 
placement of 47,843,201 new shares and 
47,843,201 free attaching new options in 
July 2010. The Placement was made at  
13 cents per new share – the same price  
as the Rights Offer. 

The capital raising resulted in the issue of 
130,234,523 fully paid ordinary shares and 
130,234,523 new listed options exercisable  
at 15 cents per share with an expiry date of 
31 August 2011. 

Following the Rights Issue, the company 
had 325 million shares on issue, over 1,200 
shareholders, $18 million in the bank and a 
market capitalisation of over $50 million. 

Appointment of  
James brown as  
Managing director

Mr James Brown was appointed the Managing 
Director of Altura in September 2010.

Mr Brown is a mining engineer with more than 
25 years’ experience in the exploration and 
mining sectors in Australia and Indonesia. 

His operational experience has proven to be a 
significant addition to the Board.

Mr Brown was first appointed as Group 
General Manager of the company in December 
2008, and then, in May 2010, was appointed 
to the position of Chief Executive Officer.

Under the terms of appointment, Mr Brown’s 
basic salary package remained unchanged, 
however he was offered 2,000,000 options, 
which were confirmed by shareholder vote 
at the company’s Annual General Meeting in 
November 2010.

Since appointing Mr Brown to the position, 
he has completed both a successful rights 
and option issue – with the later resulting in 
a conversion rate of more than 95% – giving 
a clear mandate from shareholders for the 
company strategy to advance a number of 
key projects.

7Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 2011

corporAte overview

“altura is currently in an 
enviable position. it has a 
strong balance sheet position 
of $28 million in cash with no 
Debt, a pipeline of excellent 
exploration anD Development 
initiatives anD the capacity 
to funD its projects into 
proDuction.”
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review of KeY projects

Altura has an enviable range of developing 
projects that span a suite of commodities, 
including the company’s three major areas 
of focus – coal, iron and lithium – as well 
as uranium, industrial garnet, and base and 
precious metals (lead, copper, zinc, gold 
and silver).

By leveraging our substantial in-house 
exploration and mining capability, Altura has 
strategically built a diversified base of mineral, 
coal and precious, specialty and base 
metal prospects – all of which were in the 
exploration stages prior to this Financial Year.

By the latter half of 2010–11, several key 
projects progressed quickly to economic 
feasibility and near-term production.  
These were:

•	 Tabalong Coal Project on the border of 
South and East Kalimantan, Indonesia

•	 Mt Webber DSO iron ore project (and 
five other Pilbara tenements) in a joint 
venture (Altura 30% ownership) with 
Atlas Iron Limited

•	 Altura Lithium at Pilgangoora in Western 
Australia.

Altura focuses on the future. As some of 
these key projects move closer to production, 
the company will continue to seek out new 
exploration initiatives, while maintaining a 
diversified portfolio of mineral commodities to 
underpin its future growth potential.

A horizon of profitability

With cash in the bank, Altura can fully 
fund two of its near-term mining projects – 
Tabalong Coal and Mt Webber Iron Ore.

Altura’s most advanced coal project, Tabalong 
is pending mining approval in 2012. Further 
drilling is planned in previously unexplored 
areas within the project and the company 
is targeting a potential coking coal product 
from this area. The completion of resource 
definition drilling and the impending mining 
approvals will allow the project to be fast-
tracked into production in 2012.

With production scheduled for 2013, Mt 
Webber will deliver direct shipping ore as a 
feed for Atlas’ 12Mtpa DSO production target.

The projected cash flows from these projects 
means Altura will be well-positioned for the 
production phase of its Altura Lithium project 
in 2014.

Altura Lithium at Pilgangoora is well 
progressed: metallurgical testing has been 
completed and drilling is still open and 
ongoing to determine the full extent of the 
resource. Later this year with the resource 
fully defined, Altura will commit to a feasibility 
study, and before the end of 2012, the 
company intends to complete all feasibility 
and mining applications.

Subject to statutory approvals, the company 
intends to commence operations at Altura 
Lithium as early as 2014, with production 
following within 12 months.

“altura currently has two 
outstanDing near-term mining 
projects, which are now funDeD 
to proDuction, plus a worlD 
class lithium resource poiseD 
for future Development.”



The Tabalong Coal Project is planned to 
commence in 2012 (subject to regulatory 
and government approvals) and initially will 
produce 300,000 to 400,000 tpa (tonnes 
per annum) of premium grade thermal coal, 
with a plan to potentially ramp production to 
750,000 tpa.

Current plans are for an open pit operation and 
a simply beneficiated product delivered to an 
off-take point to the west on the Barito River.

The Tabalong Coal Project comprises two 
mining permits – or Izin Usaha Pertambangan 
(IUPs) – which are held by PT Suryaraya 
Permata Khatulisitwa (PT SPK) and PT 
Suryaraya Cahaya Cemerland (PT SCC). 
These cover 1,993 and 4,315 hectares 
respectively.

This region of Kalimantan has been the focus 
of intense exploration for coal, resulting in 
numerous occurrences of high grade coking 
coal products, as well as high energy thermal 
coals – both of which are in high demand and 
can attract premium market prices.

Currently, both IUPs are granted for 
exploration purposes, and Altura is actively 
pursuing the necessary approvals and 
partnerships to have both IUPs granted for 
operations and production.

The mining approvals process has continued 
throughout 2010–11, with the expectation that 
Operation Production approval will be granted 
in 2011 and Forestry Permits in early 2012.

During the year, the Coal Resource Estimate 
(JORC compliant) at Tabalong was revised to 
13.4 million tonnes of high grade thermal coal.

Progress report

Tabalong is Altura’s advanced coal project, 
with mining approval expected to be granted 
in 2012, and production to be fast-tracked for 
a 2012 commencement of operations.

mininG approvals

Currently, Altura’s two mining permits or IUPs 
are granted for exploration purposes only. 
During the year, Altura continued the process of 
seeking the necessary approvals to have these 
IUPs granted for operations and production.

The prerequisite documentation required for 
the grant – consisting of the Environmental 
Impact Statement and the Government 
Feasibility Study – has been submitted 
to both Regency Councillor and Mines 
Department. The documents have been 
approved and now await formal approval to 
support operational approval. Subsequent 
to operational approval, the company will be 
required to gain clearance from the Minister of 
Forestry, however, the project does not cover 
protected areas.

coal resource

A review of the Tabalong Coal Project was 
conducted as part of internal due diligence 
and planning processes.

The review revised the total JORC compliant 
Coal Resource to 13.4 million tonnes of high 
grade thermal coal. The previous resource 
assessment was completed in May 2008  
and contained an estimated total resource  
of 11.3 million tonnes.

The resultant variance is due to updated 
seam correlations within the geological model, 
and treatment of coal partings within the 
coal seams. Initial geological interpretation 
indicates that two separate coal sequences 
extend along the entire strike length of the 
IUP areas. Each of these sequences contains 
several separate groups of seams.

The JORC compliant Coal Resource estimate 
of 13.4 million tonnes comprises a Measured 
Resource of 4.0 million tonnes, an Indicated 
Resource of 5.8 million tonnes and a further 
3.6 million tonnes of Inferred Resource.

Information gathered at Tabalong indicates a 
high energy (6,349kcal/kg; as received basis), 
low ash (4.8%), low sulphur (0.98%; measured 
resource), sub-bituminous coal type. The table 
at right details the breakdown of the Coal 
Resource estimate and relevant categories.

transport

Further assessment and planning for product 
coal transport and route approval has 
continued in preparation for production.

Two options remain, however the preference 
is for a 120 km haul to an offload point in the 
Barito River (west). The other solution is a 
25 km haul to a discharge point, however this 
requires payment and consent from another 
mine operator.

The current cost of production estimate (FOB 
barge) is US$65 per tonne for the 120 km 
haul option, however the shorter route offers 
a reduction of US$13 per tonne in transport 
costs so if port access charges can be 
resolved, the shorter route may be chosen. 

Thermal coal prices have firmed in Indonesia, 
with price yields greater than US$100 per 
tonne for Tabalong grade coal being achieved.

Future expansion

Significant progress has been made with 
potential partners for the development of 
Tabalong.

Altura is pursuing opportunities with the aim 
of expanding its coal holdings in the Tabalong 
region and gaining access to further coal 
resources through a joint venture with a  
well-established Indonesian partner(s).

The future

Altura aims to develop Tabalong as a stand-
alone operation, with an annual production 
rate of 500,000 to 750,000 tpa of premium 
thermal grade coal.
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TAbALOng
cOAL

Tabalong snapshot

•	 High calorie, low ash and low sulphur 
thermal coal [Indonesian Coal Index Type 
1 Coal (ICI-1)]

•	 Process of seeking mining approvals well 
underway

•	 Focus on low capital and small scale 
production model to provide  
cash flow

•	 Haulage options currently being pursued 
for approximately 120 km

•	 Port location options of Barito River (West) 
or Kuaro (East)

•	 Option to integrate development and 
cooperate with other regional operators

•	 Target FOB cost less than US$65  
per tonne

•	 On-barge price expected to be 
greater than US$100 per tonne

•	 A new exploration program is planned 
for previously untested areas in Tabalong

•	 Altura’s exploration team to 
commence field mapping upon 
receipt of approvals 

•	 Coal samples are to be analysed for 
their coking potential 

•	 Program to target increases in 
existing estimated JORC resource of 
13.4 million tonnes 



taBalonG resource estimates

Resource Tonnes Total 
Moisture 

%

Inherent 
Moisture 

%

Ash Volatile 
Matter 

%

Fixed 
Carbon 

%

Total 
Sulphur 

%

Calorific Value 
as received 

basis 
k/cals per kg

Calorific Value 
air dried basis 
k/cals per kg

Calorific Value 
dry ash free 

basis 
k/cals per kg

Relative 
density

Measured 3,989,000 16.4 7.7 4.0 40.7 47.4 0.98 6432 7097 8018 1.29

Indicated 5,796,000 16.6 8.2 5.4 40.2 46.3 1.34 6292 6924 7979 1.31

9,785,000 16.5 8.0 4.8 40.4 46.7 1.19 6349 6994 7995 1.30

Inferred 3,600,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Total 13,385,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Weighted averages are not available for the Inferred Resource category due to data limitations.
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The location of the Tabalong project also 
lends itself to the development of satellite 
projects with other mining permits and 
Altura is considering a number of potential 
adjacent projects located in East and South 
Kalimantan that could be incorporated into 
the development.

The Tabalong Coal Resource indicates 
a highly marketable product with high 
energy, low ash and low to medium sulphur 
characteristics. The larger proportion of 
the Measured Resource is categorised as 
Indonesian Coal Index (ICI) Type 1 coal.
Pricing for this coal on 4 October 2011 was 
US$118.54 per tonne FOB vessel, which 
provides a promising outlook for Tabalong as 
it moves to production.

Following planning for production and 
transport, Altura is fast-tracking production in 
2012. Preparation is ongoing for further field 
exploration (including drilling) within previously 
untested areas.

The program will focus on delineating 
further resources in the high energy coal 
measures of the Tanjung Formation, which 
is known for its low ash and medium 
sulphur coal seams.

Further to the north and west of Tabalong, 
there are several metallurgical (coking) coal 
occurrences and all coal samples recovered 
from this program are being analysed for their 
coking potential.

to become a significant player in the Development of the 
rapiDly expanDing market in inDonesia anD other south east  
asian growth markets.

taBalonG coal project  
iup Block locations



A key part of Altura’s assets portfolio is 
its investment in the Mt Webber Direct 
Shipping Ore (DSO) project. Mt Webber is 
a 25.2 million tonne Direct Shipping Ore 
(DSO) reserve that provides a near-term 
production opportunity into the lucrative  
iron ore market.

As a joint venture operation with DSO miner 
Atlas Iron Limited (ASX:AGO), Mt Webber 
provides Altura with a strong foothold and 
low risk exposure to the thriving iron ore 
industry. Altura owns a 30 per cent share of 
Mt Webber and five other highly prospective 
Pilbara tenements under the joint venture 
agreement. 

While Altura is a minority partner with  
Atlas, it retains 100% title ownership in all 
of the joint venture tenements – totalling 
333 square kilometres – thus protecting its 
interests.

The Mt Webber Iron Ore project is located 
150 km south-southeast of Port Hedland  
in the world’s premier iron ore province,  
the Pilbara. It is approximately 40 km  
east of the FMG railway line and 
immediately north of Woodstock Road, 
which connects Marble Bar to the Great 
Northern Highway.

Mt Webber has potential to be developed 
either as a stand-alone operation, or as 
a satellite mine delivering run-of-mine 
ore to a central processing facility. It is 
ideally located close to transport and port 
infrastructure.

Atlas currently operates iron ore mines  
at Wodgina and Pardoo, and will  
provide synergies and expertise in the 
development and eventual operation  
of Mt Webber.

Progress Report

Altura’s Mt Webber DSO project in Western 
Australia’s Pilbara region is moving toward 
production in 2013, subject to all approvals. 
When fully operational, Mt Webber will have a 
production rate of 3 million tonnes per annum.

The mining lease application for Mt Webber was 
lodged on July 2010 (1,913 ha) and a feasibility 
study is due to be completed in late 2011.

maiden iron ore reserve

During the 2010–11 year, further drilling at  
Mt Webber magnified the project’s potential, 
after yielding a revised resource estimate.

During September 2010, Altura announced a 
Maiden Ore Reserve estimate of 19.1 million 
tonnes @ 57.6% and more than 22 million 
tonnes in the Inferred Resource category.

The Ore Reserve estimate represented a 
very high conversion of over 97 per cent of 
the Indicated Mineral Resource at the lbanez 
deposit, located within the Mt Webber 
project area.

The upgraded Mineral Resource estimate 
of 41.9 million tonnes at 57.1% Fe 
(prepared by Atlas) was completed in 
June 2010. The subsequent Ore Reserve 
estimate of 19.1 million tonnes at 57.6% 
Fe (also prepared by Atlas) was completed 
in August 2010.

The maiden Ore Reserve estimate of  
19.1 million tonnes at lbanez is contained 
within a portion of the lbanez resource 
that was converted to Indicated Resource 
category following infill drilling.

In the December 2010 and March 2011 
quarters, further drilling proceeded at the 
remaining Inferred portion of the resource 

at Gibson and Fender to significantly increase 
the available reserve tonnes by converting 
existing Mineral Resources to Ore Reserves.

During the June 2011 quarter, infill and 
evaluation drilling recommenced on the 
lbanez deposit under Atlas’ supervision. The 
program was scheduled after the completion 
of Reverse Circulation (RC) drilling at Atlas’ 
Wodgina project.

At the end of the quarter, 61 RC holes  
were completed for a total of 4,150 metres. 
The exploration camp was also relocated  
to Mt Webber in order to service the final 
stages of evaluation and in preparation for 
pre-operation development.

joint venture

Altura is in negotiation with Atlas in order to 
form a Joint Operations Agreement (JOA) 
for the development and mining of the Mt 
Webber deposit.

The JOA framework has been discussed at 
length, however the commercial terms are yet 
to be agreed. 

The JOA is a vital step in securing an 
agreement to mine, and additionally provides 
Altura a market access point for its share of 
the DSO production, which is expected to be 
in the vicinity of one million tonnes per annum.

Mt Webber forms a significant contribution to 
Atlas’ planned production target of 12 million 
tonnes production by 2013.

The future

Production of iron ore from Mt Webber is likely 
to commence in 2013, subject to receiving 
all necessary approvals, completion of a 
favourable feasibility study and securing off-
take agreements. 

In line with this, both joint venture partners 
are working towards a suitable agreement on 
the decision to mine. It is anticipated that by 
the end of 2011, significant progress will be 
achieved in defining the framework for this 
agreement.

Operations at Mt Webber will provide Altura 
with strong cash flows from early 2013.

upGraded iron ore reserve

Further infill and evaluation drilling was conducted 
on the Ibanez and Gibson deposits to target 
a Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve upgrade 
for Mt Webber, with the aim of significantly 
increasing available ore reserve tonnage.
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MT WebbeR
iROn ORe

Mt Webber snapshot

•	 Joint venture with current DSO producer in 
Atlas Iron Limited

•	 Located approximately 150 km from Port 
Hedland

•	 JORC Ore Reserve estimate of 25.2 million 
tonnes contained in the Ibanez and Gibson 
deposits representing a 33% increase 

•	 Mt Webber mining development still on 
target for early 2013 

•	 AGO production cash cost estimate 
approximately A$45 per tonne FOB

•	 Sales price currently in excess of 
A$100 per tonne FOB

•	 Strong cash flows from early 2013 
with planned production of 3 million 
tonnes per annum



In late August 2011, Altura increased its 
JORC compliant Ore Reserve estimate for Mt 
Webber to 25.23 million tonnes – a one third 
increase (6.09 million tonnes) over the initial 
estimate of 19.1 million tonnes announced in 
September 2010.

The current Mt Webber JV Ore Reserve 
estimate of 25.23 million tonnes of DSO 
material represents 32% of Atlas Iron’s current 
North Pilbara reserves.

It is envisaged that Mt Webber will be a 
key contributor to Atlas’ production target 
of 12 million tonnes by 2013 and beyond.

Subsequent to the end of Financial  
Year, further upgrades are expected 
following additional drilling programs  
on the Gibson and Fender deposits  
during 2012.

inFrastructure

Atlas has announced it is planning to 
construct a crushing and screening hub at the 
Mt Webber DSO Project – sufficient to help 
support total exports at a rate of 12 Mtpa – 
during the course of the 2013 financial year.
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to become a niche supplier in the pilbara Direct shipping  
iron ore market.

mt WeBBer jv ore reserves – auGust 2011

location Ore type Reserve 
classification

Kt Fe 
%

SiO2 
%

Al2O3 

%
P 
%

S 
%

lOI 
%

CaFe 
%

Ibanez Bedded ore Probable 19,013 57.6 5.9 2.0 0.08 0.02 8.9 63.3

Gibson Bedded ore Probable 6,220 57.0 7.3 2.1 0.09 0.03 8.3 62.1

Total 25,233 57.5 6.2 2.0 0.08 0.02 8.8 63.0

Note: Ore Reserves defined at a 50–54% Fe cut-off grade. Reserves are subject to Joint Venture interests in the ratio AJM 30%: AGO 70% for the Mt Webber JV
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ALTuRA
LiThiuM

The Altura Lithium project is located at 
Pilgangoora in Western Australia’s Pilbara, 
where Altura has found and proven one of 
the largest high grade deposits of hard rock 
lithium ore ever discovered. 

The Altura Lithium project lies just off the 
Turner River East in Western Australia, about 
1,250 km north-northeast of Perth. It sits at 
an elevation of approximately 179 metres 
above sea level.

With only a limited number of known 
resources where lithium can be economically 
extracted, this new project has a projected 
resource target of 18 to 25 million tonnes at 
1.3% to 1.6% lithium oxide. 

The current JORC resource is more than 10.54 
million tonnes at 1.25% lithium oxide. As infill 
drilling continues, the project has the potential 
to more than double in size and capacity as 
the resource is open in all directions.

The Pilgangoora deposit is characterised by 
very thick open-ended mineralised pegmatites 
outcropping at the surface, with attractive 
grades of 1.3% to 1.6% Li2O.

The shallow nature of the deposit gives  
the project potential to deliver high yields 
and low strip ratios, considerably enhancing 
the economics of the project. In essence, 
this means a lower-cost product which will 
provide Altura a competitive advantage.

With future lithium demand anticipated  
to increase by up to 10% per annum over 
the next decade, even at its current resource 
size, Altura Lithium could become one of the 
largest and lowest cost lithium producers 
globally by delivering a dependable and cost-
effective supply to world markets for many 
decades to come.

Many previous lithium projects have been 
progressed on the basis of optimistic 
market projections for demand and 
pricing. Shallow, hard rock spodumene 
is the proven, reliable and low cost ore 
that currently supplies the majority of 
the worlds needs. Other mineralisation 
types require exotic and unproven flow 
sheets which have promised low costs of 
operation and high recoveries, however 
this has not been realised. 

The tenement is located only 120 km south of 
Port Hedland in Western Australia, with road 
linkage to the bulk port of Geraldton on the 
mid coast. Geraldton is already linked by road 
to major bulk commodity mineral deposits in 
the region, making it an ideal export gateway 
for Altura Lithium.

Progress Report

Recent drill results show that numerous 
target areas remain untested in all 
directions, which reinforces the prospect 
of Altura Lithium developing into one of the 

most significant hard rock lithium deposits 
in the world.

lithium resource

In September 2010, the initial drilling program 
at Pilgangoora intersected wide zones of 
mineralised spodumene pegmatite. Drill 
hole PRC 028 intersected 57 metres of 
spodumene pegmatite from the surface, 
with an aggregated thickness of 51 metres 
assaying 1.72% Li2O from 6 metres.

Further drilling and field mapping work was 
undertaken during the last quarter of 2010.  
This culminated in the planning of a follow-up 
drilling program to establish the extent and 
the resource potential of the lithium deposits.  
This follow-up drilling program commenced 
in January 2011, and has been ongoing 
since then.

In March 2011, assays from drilling showed 
intersected wide zones of near-surface 
mineralised spodumene pegmatite.

In April 2011, Altura signed an option 
agreement with Atlas lron and Shaw River 
Resources for the rights to the lithium 
enriched pegmatites over an area presently 
covered by E45/32363 (held by Atlas).

Drilling also determined an initial exploration 
target of 10 to 15 million tonnes @ 1.5 to 
1.7% Li2O. 

latest drill results

Altura announced its initial JORC compliant 
resource estimation for the Altura Lithium 
project in early August this year. The 
JORC compliant resource marked the 
first milestone for the project, with current 
drilling aimed at delineating further 
resources and the identification of high 
grade targets.

Initial metallurgical testing and processing 
demonstrated that a low cost dry flow sheet 
could produce a very high grade concentrate 
at 6.5% to 7% lithium oxide, and the capacity 

Altura Lithium snapshot

•	 One of the largest high grade deposits of 
hard rock lithium ore in the world

•	 Revised resource target increased  
from 18 to 25 million tonnes @ 1.3%  
to 1.6% Li2O

•	 The capacity to produce over 100,000 
tonnes per annum of lithium oxide 
concentrate

•	 Road linkage to the bulk port of 
Geraldton

•	 Only a limited number of known 
resources where lithium can be 
economically extracted

•	 Hard rock spodumene has proven 
metallurgy and flow sheets

•	 Substantial expertise in mining and 
processing in WA

•	 Operations to commence as early 
as 2014

altura lithium exploration tarGets

lithium Target Area Million tonnes li grade % li2O 

Area C1 5–7 1.3–1.5 

Area E1 4–5 1.3–1.5 

Area N1 4–5 1.3–1.5 

Area S1 5–8 1.4–1.6 

Total 18–25 1.3–1.6 

Note: The potential quantities and grades are conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient exploration to date to 
define a Mineral Resource. It is not certain that further exploration will result in the determination of a Mineral Resource.
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to become one of the largest anD lowest cost lithium 
proDucers globally by Delivering a DepenDable anD  
cost-effective supply to worlD markets.

to produce over 100,000 tonnes per annum 
of lithium oxide concentrate.

The company has an initial JORC Mineral 
Resource estimate of 10.54 million tonnes 
of mineralised spodumene pegmatite at 
1.25% Li2O, containing 132,000 tonnes 
of lithium oxide (Li2O) that is open in all 
directions.

A total of 138 drill holes have been completed 
and the current drill program will continue for 
the remainder of 2011.

The resource estimate of 10.54 million tonnes 
at an average grade of 1.25% Li2O is an 
exciting result given the short time frame of 
the program. The program to date has utilised 
114 holes in the resource estimate.

The resource estimate was completed by 
Altura Mining Limited utilising a Minescape 
(Mincom) 3D computer model to produce 
pegmatite zone correlations from geological 
and assay drill hole intercepts. The assay 
results have been integrated to produce the 
resource mass and grade estimates from the 
resource block model.

The drilling program to date has identified 
four highly mineralised pegmatite zones, 
namely C1, E1, N1 and S1. The focus for 
ongoing drilling will be to establish the 
extent of the pegmatite zone for the S1 area 
and to determine the geological continuity 
with the C1 area located 500 metres to the 
north. Other drilling will continue to prove 
up the down dip resources for the C1, E1 
and N1 areas.

The future

Altura Lithium is well advanced and further 
drilling past the current program may be 
unnecessary if drilling out of the high grade 
areas continues to be positive.

Once the current drilling program is complete, 
Altura will commence a feasibility study with 
the intention of developing a full feasibility 
and mine plan before the end of 2012, and 
commence marketing activities to identify 
potential offtake partners. 

Altura Lithium is 100 per cent owned and 
controlled by a single entity so customers 
can confidently plan and work with one single 
point of contact to deliver the product and 
quantities that suit their business.

Based on the successful completion  
of the previous stages, and subject to 
statutory approvals, Altura Lithium  

intends to commence development of 
operations at Pilgangoora as early as 
2014, with production commencing  
within 12 months.

Altura also has other lithium prospects in 
the Finniss Range, Northern Territory and at 
Smithfield in Western Australia that are yet to 
be fully explored.
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In addition to Altura’s key projects, the 
company has a substantial portfolio of 
other highly prospective tenements, and 
has continued to seek out new exploration 
initiatives throughout the year. 

With other prospects in lithium, uranium, 
gold, base and precious metals, and garnet, 
Altura’s exploration tenements now include 
more than 2,300 square kilometres in the 

Northern Territory and over 700 square 
kilometres in Western Australia.

The company has other prospective lithium 
tenements at Finniss Range in the Northern 
Territory, as well as uranium, and base and 
precious metals prospects at Mt Shoobridge, 
also in the Northern Territory.

At Mt Shoobridge, Altura has an extensive 
tenement holding in Pine Creek, which it 

is currently exploring for base metals, gold 
and uranium mineralisation. It is also actively 
assessing its Long Island uranium prospect in 
that location.

Altura is exploring and drilling these and other 
tenements with a focus on a range of options, 
including developing JORC resources that have 
the potential to be developed into operating 
mines, joint ventures, farm in/farm outs or sale.

17Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 2011

review of other  
projects

to Develop a substantial DiversifieD portfolio of high quality 
mineral projects which are DevelopeD to proDuction or realiseD 
through joint ventures or Divestment.

QUEENSLAND

NEW SOUTH
WALES

VICTORIA

SOUTH
AUSTRALIA

TAS

NORTHERN
TERRITORY

WESTERN
AUSTRALIA

BRISBANE

SYDNEY

MELBOURNE

HOBART

PERTH

DARWIN

ADELAIDE

Balline
(Garnet)

Tanami
(Au)

Smithfield
(Zn, Cu, Li, Ta)

Finniss Range
(Li, Ta, base metals) Shoobridge

(U, Au, base metals)

Mt Webber (Fe)
Pilgangoora (Li)

ACT

an update on altura’s current other mineral and metal projects: 

Metal Project/s Status

Lithium, Tantalum Finniss Range NT
Smithfield WA

Lithium results received from rock chip sampling program 
Further mapping and sampling to be undertaken 
Other prospects identified

Uranium Shoobridge NT Highly prospective target 
Surface projection of two planned drill holes 
Exploration stage with key uranium targets in Hayes Creek region

Precious and base metals 
including gold

Shoobridge NT
Pilbara WA
Smithfield WA
Finniss Range NT 
Tanami NT

Various stages of exploration 
Some exciting preliminary findings 
Extensive tenement holding in Pine Creek
Highly prospective targets 
Gold mineralisation identified

Garnet Balline WA Mining approvals received
Reviewing mine plan and mining method to address strengthening Australian dollar
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Altura has continued to supply drilling and 
exploration services to a number of mining 
companies throughout the year. 

PT Asiadrill bara utama 

Based in Indonesia, PT Asiadrill Bara Utama 
is a 100 per cent Altura-owned exploration 
services company.

Asiadrill has long-term contracts with a 
number of major mining companies and 
owns, operates and maintains 16 large 
drill rigs, 15 portable rigs, truck and track 
mounted drills, heli-lift equipment, portable 
units, and associated support vehicles.

taBalonG coal 
competent persons statement

The information in this report that relates to 
Exploration Results, Coal Resources or Coal 
Reserves is based on information compiled 
by Stephen Barber, who is a Member of the 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. 
Stephen Barber is a full-time employee of 
PT Altura Indonesia. Stephen Barber has 
sufficient experience which is relevant to the 
style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity which 
he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Coal Resources and Coal Reserves’. 
Stephen Barber consents to the inclusion in the 
report of the matters based on his information 
in the form and context in which it appears. 
Stephen Barber has over 10 years experience in 
exploration and mining of coal deposits. 

Drill rig deployment has remained consistent 
throughout the year with rig unit utilisation 
at high levels, with approximately 20 
individual units (consisting of track and skid 
mounted and man portable units) operating 
at any one time.

The company is predominately focussed  
on coal exploration and development and 
currently employs a permanent workforce 
of 55 people and up to 100 additional 
contractors.

PT Velseis indonesia 

Altura also owns a 50% interest in PT 
Velseis Indonesia, which conducts 

mt WeBBer iron ore 
reserve estimation

The information in this report that relates to 
Reserve estimations is based on information 
compiled by Mr Ken Brinsden, who is a 
member of the Australasian Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy. Ken Brinsden is a full time 
employee of Atlas Iron Limited. Ken Brinsden 
has sufficient experience which is relevant to 
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity which 
he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of 
the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves’. Ken Brinsden consents to the 
inclusion in the report of the matters based 
on his information in the form and context in 
which it appears.

geophysical services including seismic  
and wireline logging.

The company is a joint venture between Altura 
and Brisbane-based wireline and seismic 
service provider, Velseis Pty Ltd.

Velseis currently has 11 wireline units (with a 
further two on order) and regularly provides 
services in conjunction with Asiadrill on coal 
exploration and drilling programs.

The company has partnered with Asiadrill on 
a number of coal projects throughout the year.

pilGanGoora lithium 
competent persons statement

The information in this report that relates to 
Exploration Results or Mineral Resources 
is based on information compiled by Bryan 
Bourke, who is a member of the Australian 
Institute of Geoscientists and a full-time 
employee of Altura Mining Limited. Bryan 
Bourke has sufficient experience, which 
is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration 
and to the activity he is undertaking, to 
qualify as a Competent Person in terms 
of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves’ (JORC Code 2004 Edition). 
Bryan Bourke consents to the inclusion of 
such information in this Report in the form 
and context in which it appears.

explorAtion services

to maintain its reputation as a trusteD proviDer of exploration 
anD mining services in inDonesia.
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Altura Mining Limited and Controlled Entities 

Directors’ Report 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

2

Your directors have pleasure in presenting the annual financial report of Altura Mining Limited ("Altura" or "the 
Company") for the financial year ended 30 June 2011. 

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Mr James Brown 
Mr Paul Mantell 
Mr Allan Buckler 
Mr Dan O’Neill 
Mr Beng Teik Kuan 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year were: 

• Provision of mining services, including drilling and geologging services. 
• Exploration for coal, iron ore, lithium, garnet, uranium and other minerals, principally within Australia and Indonesia. 

OPERATING RESULTS 

The consolidated entity’s operating loss after providing for income tax and minority equity interests for the year ended 30 
June 2011 was $1,773,079 (2010: loss $914,326). 

DIVIDENDS 

There were no dividends paid or declared during the year ended 30 June 2011. (2010 Nil) 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

The prime activities of the consolidated entity during the 2011 financial year were the provision of mining services, and 
exploration for coal, iron ore, lithium, garnet, uranium and other minerals on its tenements located in Australia and 
Indonesia. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES TO STATE OF AFFAIRS 

In September 2010, Altura completed a two for three non-renounceable rights issue raising $16.9 million before costs.  
These funds are being used to fund the Company’s exploration and evaluation program in Western Australia and the 
Northern Territory and for general working capital purposes including enabling the Company to pursue coal and mineral 
opportunities predominately in South East Asia as and when they arise.  

There were no other significant changes in the nature of the consolidated entity’s principal activities during the financial 
year. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 

In July and August 2011, $18.5 million was received by the Company on exercise of listed 15 cent options that were 
issued in September 2010 as part of the rights issue referred to above. 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 

The Group will focus on the continued exploration and development of the Tabalong Coal Project to a decision to mine 
stage, the Mt Webber DSO project (30% owned) in conjunction with Atlas Iron Limited, further exploration of the 
Pilgangoora Lithium Project, and exploration of its tenements in Western Australia and the Northern Territory.  Altura will 
also continue to actively seek out coal and other mineral opportunities in South East Asia including Indonesia. 
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Altura Mining Limited and Controlled Entities 

Directors’ Report 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 (CONTINUED)

3

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The Group is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance. The board is responsible for regular 
monitoring of environmental exposures and compliance with environmental regulations. The Group complied with its 
environmental performance obligations during the year. 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

Mr James Brown (Managing Director) 

Qualifications 
Graduate Diploma in Mining from University of Ballarat 

Experience 
Mr Brown is a mining engineer with more than 25 years' experience in the coal mining industry in Australia and 
Indonesia, including 22 years at New Hope Corporation.  He was appointed as Managing Director of Altura in 
September 2010 and was previously Altura’s Group General Manager since December 2008.  His coal 
development and operations experience includes the New Acland and Jeebropilly mines in South East 
Queensland, the Adaro and Multi Harapan Utama operations in Indonesia and Blair Athol in the Bowen Basin in 
Central Queensland. 

Other current directorships in listed entities 
None 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None 

Special responsibilities 
None 

Interests in shares and options 
2,012,262 ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited  
2,600,000 options over ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited 

Mr Paul Mantell (Executive Director)

Qualifications 
Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Queensland and a Fellow of CPA Australia

Experience 
Mr Mantell is an accountant with more than 30 years corporate experience in the mining and associated 
industries.  He has been involved in all aspects of accounting and finance, financial reporting, taxation and 
administration, including the responsibilities of an ASX listed entity.  His responsibilities have included arranging 
finance for mining and infrastructure projects both in Australia and Indonesia and for setting up corporate, 
administrative and financial systems to support new and expanding mining operations.  He was appointed a 
director on 25 May 2009. 

Other current directorships in listed entities 
None 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None 

Special responsibilities 
None 

Interests in shares and options 
5,559,345 ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited  
5,423,738 options over ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited 
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Directors’ Report 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 (CONTINUED)

4

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (continued) 

Mr Allan Buckler (Non Executive Director)

Qualifications 
Certificate in Mine Surveying and Mining, First Class Mine Managers Certificate and a Mine Surveyor Certificate 
issued by the Queensland Government’s Department of Mines 

Experience 
Mr Buckler has over 35 years experience in the mining industry and has taken lead roles in the establishment of 
several leading mining and port operations in both Australia and Indonesia.  Significant operations such as PT 
Adaro Indonesia, PT Indonesia Bulk Terminal and New Hope Coal Australia have been developed under his 
leadership.  Mr Buckler was appointed a director on 18 December 2008. 

Other current directorships in listed entities 
Interra Resources Limited 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None 

Special responsibilities 
Member of the Audit Committee  

Interests in shares and options 
55,533,460 ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited  
28,613,384 options over ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited 

Mr Dan O’Neill (Non Executive Director)

Qualifications 
Bachelor of Science in geology from the University of Western Australia 

Experience 
Mr O’Neill was appointed a director on 18 December 2008.  He has held positions with a number of Australian 
and multinational exploration companies and has managed exploration programs in a diverse range of 
environments and locations including Botswana, North America, South East Asia, North Africa and Australasia.  
During his 30 years experience he has held executive management positions with ASX listed companies and 
has worked on a range of commodities including diamonds, gold, base metals, coal, oil and gas. 

Other current directorships in listed entities 
DiamonEx Limited 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
Orocobre Limited – resigned 2009 

Special responsibilities 
Chairman of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interests in shares and options 
533,334 ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited  
1,333,334 options over ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (continued) 

Mr Beng Teik Kuan (Non Executive Director)

Qualifications 
Bachelor of Engineering (University of Malaya)

Experience 
Mr Kuan is an engineer with considerable experience in bulk handling and terminal operations, including 
responsibility for the development and management of the Pulau Laut Coal Terminal in South Kalimantan, 
Indonesia.  He also has experience in Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore with tin dredging operations, 
managing rubber, palm oil and cocoa processing factories, and managing palm oil bulk terminals.  He was 
appointed a director on 28 November 2007. 

Other current directorships in listed entities 
None 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None 

Special responsibilities 
Chairman of the Audit Committee 
Member of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

Interests in shares and options 
987,834 ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited  
1,955,134 options over ordinary shares in Altura Mining Limited 

COMPANY SECRETARIES 

Mr Damon Cox 
Mr Cox is a Chartered Secretary, a Certified Practising Accountant and a Fellow of the Financial Services 
Institute of Australasia.  He has over 20 years experience in various roles including corporate governance, 
compliance, treasury and strategic policy advice. 

Mr Noel Young 
Mr Young is a Fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants.  He has over 25 years experience in the mining 
industry and holds the dual role of Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary. 
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6

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 

This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for directors and other key management personnel. 

Remuneration Policy 

The Company’s policy is to remunerate fairly and in line with companies of similar size, operations and in the same 
industry. Individual remuneration decisions are made by the Remuneration & Nomination Committee taking into account 
the following factors: 

• The responsibility of the role; 
• Experience of the employee; 
• Past performance and future expectations; 
• Industry conditions and trends. 

In order to retain and attract key management personnel of sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and effective 
management of the company’s operations, the Remuneration & Nomination Committee may seek the advice of external 
advisors in connection with the structure of remuneration packages. 

Remuneration packages may contain the following key elements: 

a) Primary benefits – salary/fees, bonuses and non monetary benefits including the provision of a motor vehicle; 
b) Post-employment benefits – including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits; and 
c) Equity – share options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan as disclosed in Note 21 to the financial 

statements.

None of the Company’s personnel remuneration packages are linked directly to the Company’s profitability or other 
measure of performance.  The Company maintains an Employee Share Option Plan under which employees may be 
granted options which vest subject to service conditions being met.  Directors may also be allocated options as an 
incentive that could be realised if the Company’s share price increases. 

Performance-based remuneration 

The Company currently has no performance based remuneration in place. 

Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Director and Executive Remuneration 

The Company has recorded the following earnings over the last five years: 

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Revenues 9,047,665 10,067,199 14,768,403 10,898,857 3,335,059 
EBITDA * (997,721) 835,909 (1,206,055) (1,598,404) (1,602,530) 
NPBT * (1,235,695) (198,719) (5,062,253) (1,991,853) (1,798,964) 
NPAT * (1,773,079) (914,326) (5,833,243) (2,329,547) (2,153,570) 
Dividends paid - - - - - 
W. Av. No. of Shares on issue 301,125,914 168,235,764 126,913,765 113,724,652 55,572,128 
EPS * (0.59) (0.54) (4.60) (2.05) (3.88) 

* Definitions:  EBITDA = Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
  NPBT = Net profit before tax 
  NPAT = Net profit after tax & minority interest 
  EPS = Earnings per share (calculated based on the weighted average number of shares on issue) 

Key Management Personnel Remuneration Policy 

The Remuneration & Nomination Committee reviews the remuneration packages of all directors and key management 
personnel on an annual basis.  Remuneration packages are reviewed and determined with due regard to relevant market 
conditions and individual’s experience and qualification and are benchmarked against comparable industry salaries. 

Payment of cash bonuses and share based compensation benefits is discretionary. 
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7

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (continued) 

Employment Contracts of Key Management Personnel 

Contracts of employment are given to key management personnel at time of employment.  Details are as follows: 

James Brown, Managing Director - the agreement is of no fixed term and allows for payment of a monthly cash salary in 
US dollars, reviewed each year.  The agreement includes provision of a motor vehicle and other non cash allowances 
including housing, travel and dependent children’s education.  Three months notice of termination by either party is 
required, with a separation allowance equivalent to one year’s salary and entitlements to be paid if employment is 
terminated by the Company. 

Paul Mantell, Executive Director - the agreement is of no fixed term and allows for payment of an annual cash salary, 
reviewed each year, and superannuation.  Provision of a motor vehicle and other non cash benefits is included.  Three 
months notice of termination by either party is required, with a separation allowance equivalent to one year’s gross salary 
to be paid if employment is terminated by the Company. 

Noel Young, Group Financial Controller & Company Secretary - the agreement is of no fixed term and allows for 
payment of an annual cash salary, reviewed each year, and superannuation.  Provision of a motor vehicle is included.  
One month’s notice of termination by either party is required, with a separation allowance equivalent to three month’s 
gross salary to be paid if employment is terminated by the Company. 

Damon Cox, Company Secretary - the agreement is of no fixed term and allows for payment of an annual cash salary, 
reviewed each year, and superannuation.  Provision of a motor vehicle is included.   One month’s notice of termination 
by either party is required. 

Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

2011 Short-term benefits Post 
employment 

Long- 
term

benefits 

Share
based

payments 
Termination 
payments 

Name 
Cash

salary and 
fees 

$

Cash  
bonus 

$

Non-
monetary 
benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Long 
service 
leave 

$

Options 

$ $

Total 

$
Non-executive
directors

        

A Buckler 36,000 - - 3,240 - 18,416 - 57,656 
D O’Neill 36,000 - - 3,240 - 18,416 - 57,656 
B Kuan 36,000 - - 3,240 - 18,416 - 57,656 
Sub total  
non-executive 
directors 

108,000 - - 9,720 - 55,248 - 172,968 

Managing 
directors

        

J Brown * 214,044 - 78,106 - - 36,833 - 328,983 
Executive
directors

        

P Mantell 258,700 - 32,024 23,283 - 36,833 - 350,840 
Other key 
management 
personnel

        

N Young 125,000 - 19,057 11,250 - 7,785 - 163,092 
D Cox 115,000 - 6,145 10,350 - 7,785 - 139,280 

Total for key 
management 
personnel 
compensation

712,744 - 135,332 44,883 - 89,236 - 982,195 

Total 
compensation 820,744 - 135,332 54,603 - 144,484 - 1,155,163 

*No superannuation is applicable as Mr Brown is based in Indonesia. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (continued) 

2010 Short-term benefits Post 
employment 

Long- 
term

benefits 

Share
based

payments 
Termination 
payments 

Name 
Cash

salary and 
fees 

$

Cash  
bonus 

$

Non-
monetary 
benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Long 
service 
leave 

$

Options 

$ $

Total 

$
Non-executive
directors

        

A Buckler 36,000 - - 3,240 - - - 39,240 
D O’Neill 36,000 - - 3,240 - - - 39,240 
B Kuan 36,000 - - 3,240 - - - 39,240 
Sub total  
non-executive 
directors 

108,000 - - 9,720 - - - 117,720 

Executive
directors

        

P Mantell 254,350 - 27,873 22,892 - - - 305,115 
Other key 
management 
personnel 

        

J Brown * 192,321 32,794 115,841 - - 8,794 - 349,750 
K Mayes 159,034 50,000 14,196 18,659 - - 58,967 300,856 
N Young 100,462 - 14,228 9,042 - - - 123,732 
D Cox 107,500 - - 9,675 - 4,397 - 121,572 

Total for key 
management 
personnel 
compensation

813,667 82,794 172,138 60,268 - 13,191 58,967 1,201,025 

Total 
compensation 921,667 82,794 172,138 69,988 - 13,191 58,967 1,318,745 

*No superannuation is applicable as Mr Brown is based in Indonesia. 

Options 

Options were issued to directors and key management personnel as part of their remuneration for the year ended 30 
June 2011.  A total of 4,050,000 options were issued to senior staff on 1 October 2010 under the Company’s Employee 
Share Option Plan (ESOP) with a further 7,000,000 issued to directors on 13 December 2010 (following approval at the 
Annual General Meeting). 

The options have an exercise price of $0.20 with an expiry date of 30 September 2015.  The options have a vesting date 
of 1 October 2013 and are designed as a long-term incentive to reward performance. 

The following options were issued to directors and key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2011. 

 Granted 
number 

Grant
date 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
$

J Brown 2,000,000 13/12/10 $0.0942 
P Mantell 
A Buckler 
D O’Neill 
BT Kuan 
N Young 

2,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 

350,000 

13/12/10 
13/12/10 
13/12/10 
13/12/10 
01/10/10 

$0.0942 
$0.0942 
$0.0942 
$0.0942 
$0.0893 

D Cox 350,000 01/10/10 $0.0893 

 7,700,000   
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REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (continued) 

The following options were on issue to directors and key management personnel as at 30 June 2011: 

 Granted 
number 

Grant
date 

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
$

Vested
number 

Exercise 
price 

$

First 
exercise 

date 

Last 
exercise 

date 

J Brown 2,000,000 13/12/10 $0.0942 - $0.20 01/10/13 30/09/15 
J Brown 100,000 11/08/08 $0.1400 100,000 $0.50 11/08/09 31/07/11 
J Brown 100,000 11/08/08 $0.1400 100,000 $0.50 11/02/10 31/07/11 
P Mantell 
A Buckler 
D O’Neill 
BT Kuan 
N Young 

2,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 
1,000,000 

350,000 

13/12/10 
13/12/10 
13/12/10 
13/12/10 
01/10/10 

$0.0942 
$0.0942 
$0.0942 
$0.0942 
$0.0893 

-
-
-
-
-

$0.20 
$0.20 
$0.20 
$0.20 
$0.20 

01/10/13 
01/10/13 
01/10/13 
01/10/13 
01/10/13 

30/09/15 
30/09/15 
30/09/15 
30/09/15 
30/09/15 

D Cox 350,000 01/10/10 $0.0893 - $0.20 01/10/13 30/09/15 
D Cox 50,000 11/08/08 $0.1400 50,000 $0.50 11/08/09 31/07/11 
D Cox 50,000 11/08/08 $0.1400 50,000 $0.50 11/02/10 31/07/11 

 8,000,000   300,000    

The following table discloses the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year: 

Options 
granted as 

part of  
remuneration 

$

 Total  
remuneration 

represented by 
options 

%

Options 
exercised 

$

Options 
lapsed 

$
Total 

$
Directors & key 
management personnel 

   

J Brown 36,833  11.2  -  -  36,833 

P Mantell 36,833  10.5  -  -  36,833 

A Buckler 18,416  31.9  -  -  18,416 

D O’Neill 18,416  31.9  -  -  18,416 

BT Kuan 18,416  31.9  -  5,200  23,616 

N Young 7,785  4.8  -  -  7,785 

D Cox 7,785  5.6  -  -  7,785 

 144,484    -  5,200  149,684 
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during 
the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a director or committee 
member).  During the financial year there were 4 Directors’ meetings, 3 Audit Committee meetings and 2 Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee meetings held. 

Directors’ Meetings Audit Committee Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee 

Number 
eligible to 

attend

Number 
attended

Number 
eligible to 

attend

Number 
attended

Number 
eligible to 

attend

Number 
attended

J Brown 3 3     
P Mantell 4 4     
A Buckler 4 4 3 3   
D O’Neill 4 3   2 2 
B Kuan 4 4 3 3 2 2 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

The Company has entered into Deeds of Indemnity with all of its directors in accordance with the Company’s 
Constitution.  During the financial year the Company paid a premium to insure the directors, officers and managers of the 
Company and its controlled entities.  The insurance contract requires that the amount of the premium paid is kept 
confidential. 

OPTIONS 

At the date of signing this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Altura Mining Limited under option are as follows: 

Issue Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number under 
Option 

17 December 2008 31 December 2011 $0.40 500,000 

1 October 2010 30 September 2015 $0.20 2,900,000 

13 December 2010 30 September 2015 $0.20 7,000,000 

   10,400,000 

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the following ordinary shares of Altura Mining Limited were issued on the exercise 
of options.  No amounts are unpaid on any of the shares. 

Issue Date  Exercise Price Number of Shares 
Issued 

6 October 2010  $0.15 30,004 

23 December 2010  $0.15 9,501 

25 February 2011  $0.15 21,111 

16 June 2011  $0.15 602,000 

30 June 2011  $0.15 987 

   663,603 
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Since 30 June 2011, the following ordinary shares of Altura Mining Limited were issued on the exercise of options.  No 
amounts are unpaid on any of the shares. 
 

Issue Date  Exercise Price  Number of Shares 
Issued 

5 August 2011  $0.15  2,173,325 

15 August 2011  $0.15  401,273 

19 August 2011  $0.15  242,233 

26 August 2011  $0.15  519,931 

2 September  2011  $0.15  2,753,213 

5 September  2011  $0.15  117,532,293 

     

    123,622,268 
 
 
No person entitled to exercise the option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of 
any other body corporate. 
 
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of 
those proceedings. 
 
The Company was not party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The Company’s auditor, Crowe Horwath Perth, did not provide any non-audit services to the Company during the year 
ended 30 June 2011. 
 
ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 
 
The Company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the financial 
statements and directors’ report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. 
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2011 has been received and is included on page 12 
of the annual report. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors, 
 
 
 
 
  
BT Kuan 
Director 
Signed at Brisbane this 6th day of September 2011 
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ANNUAL REPORT – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
 
This report sets out the key corporate governance practices of the Company during the Reporting Period, 
providing disclosure to the extent recommended by the ASX in accordance with its "Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations 2nd Edition” (the "ASX Principles") issued in August 2007. 
 
The Company has followed the Recommendations to the extent the Board considered was practicable and likely 
to genuinely improve the Company’s internal processes and accountability to external stakeholders. 
 
The company’s practices for each of the ASX principles are discussed in detail below, with any departures from 
the Recommendations separately reported. 
 
ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 
 
Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 
The Company has a Statement of Board and Management Functions which sets out the roles and responsibilities 
of the board, the non-executive directors, the Managing Director and management generally.  The Statement also 
addresses materiality thresholds and the organisation of the board. 
 
It is the role of the Board to protect and enhance long-term shareholder value, provide strategic direction for the 
Company, establish goals for management and monitor the achievement of those goals. 
 
The Board’s responsibilities include: 

• Supervising the Company's framework of control and accountability systems to enable risk to be assessed 
and managed; 

• Ensuring the Company is properly managed; 

• Approving of the annual budget, major capital expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and 
divestitures; 

• Monitoring the financial performance of the Company; 

• Approving and monitoring financial and other reporting; 

• Liaising with the Company's external auditors and Audit Committee; 

• Monitoring the environmental and the occupational health and safety performance of the Company; 
 
In addition, the non-executive directors are responsible for reviewing and challenging executive performance.   
 
The Managing Director is responsible for running the affairs of the Company under delegated authority from the 
Board and to implement the policies and strategy set by the Board.  The role of management is to support the 
Managing Director and implement the running of the general operations and financial business of the Company. 
 
The Remuneration & Nomination Committee undertakes an annual review of the performance of senior executive 
staff. 
 
Principle 2 Structure the board to add value 
 
The Company places a high priority on having the requisite mix of skills and experience amongst its directors to 
enable it to properly undertake its duties and responsibilities. 
 
The Company considers that it has the necessary collective expertise in exploration, mine development, mine 
management, infrastructure development and operation, finance and organisational management to enable it to 
develop projects from exploration through to production. 
 
Details of the skills, experience and term of office of each director are contained in their respective profiles in the 
Directors' Report. 
 
At this point in the Company’s evolution, it is not considered necessary to have a permanent board chairman, with 
the role at Board meetings being rotated between the non-executive directors.   
 
The Company has a Remuneration & Nomination Committee with its own established charter.  The Committee 
undertakes an annual review of the composition and performance of the board prior to the nomination for election 
of directors at the annual general meeting.   
 

corporAte governAnce
statement
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If a director considers it necessary to obtain independent professional advice in order to properly discharge their 
responsibility as a director then, provided the director first obtains approval for incurring such expense from the 
other directors, the Company will pay the reasonable expenses associated with obtaining such advice. 
 
Principle 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
 
The Company has a code of conduct designed to promote ethical business conduct, compliance with laws and 
regulations, high standards of professional behaviour and avoid conflicts of interest. 
 
The code applies to directors, managers and employees.  It covers compliance with the law, conflicts of interest, 
corporate opportunities, confidentiality, intellectual property, safe work practices, alcohol and drug usage, equal 
opportunity and outside employment. 
 
The Company also has a securities trading policy which applies to all directors, employees, contractors and their 
associates.  The policy sets out the prohibited trading periods, trading permitted during a prohibited period, 
trading due to exceptional circumstances in a prohibited period and the procedure for obtaining clearance under 
such circumstances. 
 
In addition to the ASX Corporate Governance requirements, the Company has an Anti Corruption Policy.  This 
policy was developed to promote compliance with the Criminal Code Amendment (Bribery of Foreign Public 
Officials) Act 1999, which creates an offence of bribery. 
 
Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
The Company has an Audit Committee comprising BT Kuan (Chairman) and Allan Buckler.  Details on the 
number of meetings held and the attendance at those meetings can be found in the Directors’ Report. 
 
The Audit Committee has a charter which sets out its objectives, composition, responsibilities, functions and 
powers.  The Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing and evaluating the external audit function, the 
Company’s financial reporting, the internal control system, the assessment of risk and compliance with legislation. 
 
The Committee has the power to communicate directly with the appointed auditor, the right to meet the auditors 
without management being present and the authority to take independent professional advice as it considers 
necessary. 
 
Principle 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
The Company has an approved Policy for Compliance with Continuous Disclosure Requirements.  This policy is 
supported by internal processes to review information in order to ensure that the Company complies with its 
continuous disclosure obligations. 
 
Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
The Company has a Corporate Communications Strategy which covers shareholder communications through the 
publication of ASX announcements and research reports on the Company’s website, the provision of an email 
information update service, participation at annual general meetings and direct mail to shareholders. 
 
The policy also covers the processes for the handling of investor, media and broker communications and other 
shareholder queries. 
 
Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk 
 
The Company has policies and processes in place to address the material business risks arising from its 
exploration and mining services operations.  The Company also has an appropriate internal control framework to 
govern the management of financial risk. 
 
The Board’s Audit Committee has the prime responsibility for the oversight of the risk management and internal 
control environment. 
 
The Board through the Audit Committee has received the written declarations from the Managing Director and the 
Executive Director under section 295A of the Corporations Act that the Company’s financial reports are founded 
on a sound system of risk management, internal compliance and control, and that the system is operating 
efficiently and effectively in all material aspects. 
 
Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
The Company has a Remuneration & Nomination Committee with its own established charter. 
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The Committee comprises Dan O’Neill (Chairman) and BT Kuan.  Details on the number of meetings held and the 
attendance at those meetings can be found in the Directors’ Report. 
 
Details of remuneration, including the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the “Remuneration 
Report” which forms part of the Directors’ Report.   
 
DEPARTURES FROM BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
As at the end of the Reporting Period, there were four (4) Recommendations that the Company did not follow 
during the Reporting Period.  These are: 
 
Recommendation 2.1 A majority of the board shall be independent directors. 

Notification of departure: During the reporting period two (2) of the five (5) directors were independent, and 
as such, this does not constitute an absolute majority. 

Explanation for departure: Three (3) of the five (5) current directors are non-executive directors, and the 
Board considers that it has an appropriate balance between executive and non-
executive directors as well as a complementary mix of skills and experience. 

  
Recommendation 2.2 The chair should be an independent director. 

Notification of departure: The Company does not have a permanent chairman, with the role at Board 
meetings being rotated between the non-executive directors on a meeting by 
meeting basis. 

Explanation for departure: The Board considers that this arrangement is appropriate in the context of the 
current structure of the Board and that the Board is able to function effectively and 
efficiently on this basis. 

  
Recommendation 4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it: 

• consists only of non-executive directors 
• consists of a majority of independent directors 
• is chaired by an independent, who is not chair of the board 
• has at least three members 

Notification of departure: The Audit Committee did not meet the requirements for composition during the 
Reporting Period. 

Explanation for departure: The Committee comprises two (2) non-executive directors of which one (1) is an 
independent director.  Given the current size of the Board, it is considered that 
this arrangement is appropriate. 

  
Recommendation 8.2 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 

directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and senior 
executives. 

Notification of departure: The Company has issued options to non-executive directors, with shareholder 
approval, during the Reporting Period. 

Explanation for departure: The Directors are of the view that at this stage of the Company’s development it is 
far better for Directors of the Company to be compensated by way of securities in 
the Company, rather than by way of cash. 

 
DISCLOSURE ON COMPANY WEBSITE 
 
The following corporate governance policies can be found on the Company's website at www.alturamining.com 
 
• Audit Committee Charter 
• Remuneration & Nomination Committee Charter 
• Statement of Board and Management Functions 
• Code of Conduct 
• Anti Corruption Policy 
• Policy on Trading in Company Securities 
• Policy for Compliance with Continuous Disclosure Requirements 
• Corporate Communication Strategy 
• Statement on Risk Management Practices 
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Note  
2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

   
Continuing operations    

Revenue 5(a) 7,955 8,014 

Cost of sales 5(c) (5,986) (6,248) 

Gross profit/(loss)  1,969 1,766 

Other income 5(b) 1,093 2,053 
Administration costs  (3,148) (3,500) 
Employee benefits expense 5(d) (216) (35) 
Other expenses 5(d) (98) (80) 
Foreign exchange movement  (631) (187) 
Financing costs 5(e) (204) (215) 

   
Profit/(loss) before income tax  (1,235) (198) 

Income tax expense  7(a) (439) (633) 

Profit/(loss) for the year  (1,674) (831) 

   
Profit/(loss) attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  (1,773) (914) 
Non-controlling interest  99 83 

 (1,674) (831) 

   

The above Consolidated Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Note
2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

   
Profit/(loss) after income tax  (1,674) (831) 

   
Other comprehensive income    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled entities  (841) (191) 
   

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax  (841) (191) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (2,515) (1,022) 

   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  (2,520) (1,088) 
Non-controlling interest  5 66 

 (2,515) (1,022) 

Earnings / (Loss) per share     
Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) 6 (0.59) (0.54) 
Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) 6 (0.59) (0.54) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Note  
2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 8 5,455 1,873 
Trade and other receivables 9 1,875 2,366 
Held to maturity investments 10 8,750 - 
Current tax prepaid 18(b) 195 191 
Other current assets 11 491 303 

Total current assets  16,766 4,733 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 12 3,633 4,291 
Exploration and evaluation 13 19,991 16,942 
Intangible assets 14 4,529 4,529 
Deferred tax asset 18(b) 5,860 4,996 

Total non-current assets  34,013 30,758 

Total assets 50,779 35,491 

Current liabilities 
   

Trade and other payables 15 1,387 1,021 
Interest bearing liabilities 16 2,186 189 
Short term provisions 17 442 524 

Total current liabilities  4,015 1,734 

Non-current liabilities 
   

Interest bearing liabilities 19 46 2,172 
Deferred tax liability 18(a) 5,816 4,842 

Total non-current liabilities  5,862 7,014 

Total liabilities 9,877 8,748 

Net assets 40,902 26,743 

Equity 

   

Contributed equity 20 55,239 38,781 
Reserves  308 135 
Foreign currency translation reserve  (967) (126) 
Accumulated losses  (14,069) (12,339) 

Parent interest  40,511 26,451 

Non-controlling interest 391 292 

Total equity 40,902 26,743 

The above Consolidated Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 Contributed 
Equity 

$’000 

Retained
earnings 

$’000 

Option
reserve 

$’000 

Foreign 
currency 
reserve 
$’000 

Non-
controlling 
interests 

$’000 

Total

$’000 
   

Balance as at 30 June 2009 27,401 (11,934) 646 65 352 16,530 
    

Other comprehensive income - (914) - (191) 83 (1,022) 

Total comprehensive income - (914) - (191) 83 (1,022) 
     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 

     

Issue of shares on exercise of options 822 - - - - 822 
Issue of shares 10,523 - - - - 10,523 
Dividend paid to  non-controlling interests from 
subsidiary 

- - - - (143) (143) 

Option reserve on recognition of bonus element of 
options 

- - 34 - - 34 

Transfer from option reserve on exercise/expiry of 
options 

35 509 (545) - - - 

Sub-Total 11,380 (405) (511) (191) (60) 10,213 

Balance as at 30 June 2010 38,781 (12,339) 135 (126) 292 26,743 
    

Other comprehensive income - (1,773) - (841) 99 (2,515) 

Total comprehensive income - (1,773) - (841) 99 (2,515) 
     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 

     

 Issue of shares on exercise of options 95 - - - - 95 
 Issue of shares 16,363 - - - - 16,363 
 Option reserve on recognition of bonus element  
 of options 

- - 216 - - 216 

 Transfer from option reserve on exercise/expiry  
 of options 

- 43 (43) - - - 

Sub-Total 16,458 (1,730) 173 (841) 99 14,159 

Balance as at 30 June 2011 55,239 (14,069) 308 (967) 391 40,902 
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Note  
2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

   
Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  8,058 7,751 
Sundry income  75 37 
Interest received  532 44 
Interest paid  (204) (215) 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (8,539) (9,763) 
Income tax paid  (602) (721) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 25(b) (680) (2,867) 
   

Cash flows from investing activities    
Expenditure on exploration  (2,697) (11,479) 
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment  (545) (536) 
Payments for held to maturity investments  (8,750) - 
Proceeds from sale of investment  - 260 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  - 3,183 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (11,992) (8,572) 
   

Cash flows from financing activities    
Issue of shares  17,030 11,892 
Payments for issue of equity securities  (572) (547) 
Proceeds from hire purchase liabilities  50 36 
Payment of hire purchase liabilities  (119) (277) 
Dividend paid to minority from subsidiary  - (117) 
Loans from related parties  - 1,000 
Reduction/(increase) in performance bond  29 345 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   16,418 12,332 
   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  3,746 893 
   

Cash at the beginning of the financial year  1,873 1,030 

Effect of exchange rates on cash holdings in foreign currencies (164) (50) 

Cash at the end of the financial year 25(a) 5,455 1,873 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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This financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Altura Mining Limited and controlled 
entities (‘Consolidated Group’ or ‘Group’).  Altura Mining Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publically traded on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited.   

The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Altura Mining Limited, have not been presented within this 
financial report as permitted by amendments made to the Corporations Act 2001.

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Consolidated Group in the 
preparation of the financial report.  The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis.  The accounting 
policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.   

Accounting policies 

a. Principles of consolidation 

A controlled entity is any entity Altura Mining Limited has the power to control the financial and operating 
policies of so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 24 to the financial statements.  All Australian controlled 
entities have a June financial year-end and all other controlled entities have a December financial year-end. 

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the economic entity, including any 
unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistencies with those policies applied by the parent entity. 

Where controlled entities have entered or left the economic entity during the year, their operating results 
have been included from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased. 

Non-controlling interests, being that portion of the profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries attributable to 
equity interests held by persons outside the Group, are shown separately within the equity section of the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet and in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

b. Business combinations 

Business combinations occur where control over another business is obtained and results in the 
consolidation of its assets and liabilities.  All business combinations, including those involving entities under 
common control, are accounted for by applying the purchase method. 

The purchase method requires an acquirer of the business to be identified and for the cost of the acquisition 
and fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to be determined as at acquisition 
date, being the date that control is obtained.  Cost is determined as the aggregate of fair values of assets 
given, equity issued and liabilities assumed in exchange for control together with costs directly attributable to 
the business combination. 

Goodwill is recognised initially at the excess of cost over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.  If the fair value of the acquirer’s interest is 
greater than cost, the surplus is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

c. Income tax 

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the result for the year adjusted for any 
non-assessable or disallowed items.  It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are 
substantially enacted by the balance date. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a 
business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or liability is settled.  Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to items that 
may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the 
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the 
economic entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and 
comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 

Altura Mining Limited and some of its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax 
consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime.  Each entity in the group recognises its own current 
and deferred tax liabilities, except for any deferred tax liabilities resulting from unused tax losses and tax 
credits, which are immediately assumed by the parent entity.  The current tax liability of each group entity is 
then subsequently assumed by the parent entity.  The group notified the Australian Tax Office that it had 
formed an income tax consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2005.  The tax consolidated group has 
entered a tax sharing agreement whereby each company in the group contributes to the income tax payable 
in proportion to their contribution to the net profit before tax of the tax consolidated group. 

d. Segment reporting 

The Group has applied AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009.  AASB 8 requires a management 
approach under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal 
reporting purposes.  Operating segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker, which in the Group’s case is the Board of Directors. 

e. Property, plant and equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Property 

Freehold land and buildings are measured on the cost basis. 

The carrying amount of land and buildings is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount from these assets.   

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets.  The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected 
net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected 
net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 



43Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 2011

notes to the finAnciAl stAtements
for the year enDeD 30 june 2011

Altura Mining Limited and Controlled Entities 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

22

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Each year the difference between depreciation based on the re-valued carrying amount of the asset charged 
to the income statement and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from the 
revaluation reserve to retained earnings. 

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including building and capitalised lease assets, but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives to the economic entity 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.  Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate

Plant and equipment 5-33% 

Leased plant and equipment 5-33% 

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These 
gains and losses are included in the income statement.  When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in 
the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 

f. Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable 
area of interest.  These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped 
through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage 
that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against the result in the year in 
which the decision to abandon the area is made. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the 
life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are 
included in the costs of that stage.  Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining 
plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with 
clauses of the mining permits.  Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current 
legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis.  In determining the costs 
of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community 
expectations and future legislation.  Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that the 
restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

g. Leases 

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, 
but not the legal ownership that is transferred to entities in the Consolidated Group entity, are classified as 
finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any 
guaranteed residual values.  Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and 
the lease interest expense for the period. 

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the 
lease term. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, 
are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease term. 

h. Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If such an indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset, being in the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.  Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement. 

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

i. Employee benefits 

Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees 
to balance date.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs.  Employee benefits 
payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows 
to be made for those benefits. 

The amount recognised is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

Equity-settled compensation 

The Company operates an Employee Share Option Plan.  The bonus element over the exercise price of the 
employee services rendered in exchange for the grant of shares and options is recognised as an expense in 
the income statement.  The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference 
to the fair value of the shares or the options granted. 

j. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably 
measured. 

k. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.   
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

l. Revenue 

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to the customer. 

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets. 

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established.  Dividends 
received from associates and joint venture entities are accounted for in accordance with the equity method 
of accounting. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

m. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such times as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

n. Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables in 
the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

o. Foreign operations 

The financial performance and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the 
Group’s presentation currency are translated as follows: 

• assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at balance sheet date; 
• income and expenses are translated at monthly average exchange rates for the period. 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the group’s 
foreign currency translation reserve as a separate component of equity. These differences are recognised in 
the income statement upon disposal of the foreign operation. 

p. Foreign currency transactions and balances 

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period end exchange rate.  
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date 
when fair values were determined.  

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement, 
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to 
the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is 
recognised in the income statement. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

q. Financial instruments 

Recognition 

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when the 
related contractual rights or obligations exist.  Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are 
measured as set out below. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Held to maturity investments 

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and the ability to hold to maturity. 
Held to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets that are not financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, held to maturity or loans and receivables. Available-for-sale financial assets are 
reflected at fair value.  Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to 
equity. 

r. Goodwill and intangibles  

Goodwill and goodwill on consolidation are initially recorded at the amount by which the purchase price for a 
business or for an ownership interest in a controlled entity exceeds the fair value attributed to its net assets 
at date of acquisition.  Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Gains and losses 
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to an entity sold. 

s. Comparative figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.  
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

t. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which 
may impact the entity in the period of initial application.  They are available for early adoption at 30 June 
2011, but have not been applied in preparing this financial report. 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments includes requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets resulting from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. AASB 9 will become mandatory for the Company's 30 
June 2014 financial statements. Retrospective application is generally required, although there are 
exceptions, particularly if the entity adopts the standard for the year ended 30 June 2012 or earlier. 
The Company has not yet determined the potential effect of the Standard. 

(ii) AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (revised December 2009) simplifies and clarifies the intended 
meaning of the definition of a related party and provides a partial exemption from the disclosure 
requirements for government-related entities. The amendments, which will become mandatory for 
Company's 30 June 2012 financial statements, are not expected to have any impact on the financial 
statements.

(iii) AASB 2009–12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 
133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). This Standard makes a number of 
editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including 
amendments to reflect changes made to the text of IFRSs by the IASB. The Standard also amends 
AASB 8 to require entities to exercise judgment in assessing whether a government and entities 
known to be under the control of that government are considered a single customer for the 
purposes of certain operating segment disclosures. The amendments are not expected to impact 
the Group. 

(iv) AASB 2009–14: Amendments to Australian Interpretation – Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 
Requirement [AASB Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011). This Standard amends Interpretation 14 to address unintended 
consequences that can arise from the previous accounting requirements when an entity prepays 
future contributions into a defined benefit pension plan. This Standard is not expected to impact the 
Group. 

(v) AASB 2010–5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 
118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 
1042] (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011). This Standard 
makes numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the text of IFRSs by the IASB. 
However, these editorial amendments have no major impact on the requirements of the respective 
amended pronouncements. 

(vi) AASB 2010–6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of 
Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7] (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2011). This Standard adds and amends disclosure requirements about transfers of financial 
assets, especially those in respect of the nature of the financial assets involved and the risks 
associated with them. Accordingly, this Standard makes amendments to AASB 1: First-time 
Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards, and AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, 
establishing additional disclosure requirements in relation to transfers of financial assets. This 
Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

(vii) AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] (applies to periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013). This Standard makes amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a consequence of the issuance of AASB 9: Financial Instruments in 
December 2010. Accordingly, these amendments will only apply when the entity adopts AASB 9. 
As noted above, the Group has not yet determined any potential impact on the financial statements 
from adopting AASB 9. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(viii) AASB 2010–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets [AASB 112] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012). This 
Standard makes amendments to AASB 112: Income Taxes. The amendments brought in by this 
Standard introduce a more practical approach for measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 
assets when investment property is measured using the fair value model under AASB 140: 
Investment Property. Under the current AASB 112, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets depends on whether an entity expects to recover an asset by using it or by 
selling it. The amendments introduce a presumption that an investment property is recovered 
entirely through sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within a 
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied 
in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. The amendments brought in by this 
Standard also incorporate Interpretation 121 into AASB 112. The amendments are not expected to 
impact the Group. 

(ix) AASB 2010–9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and 
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters [AASB 1] (applies to periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2011). This Standard makes amendments to AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards. The amendments brought in by this Standard provide relief for first-time 
adopters of Australian Accounting Standards from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred 
before their date of transition to Australian Accounting Standards. This Standard is not expected to 
impact the Group. 

(x) AASB 2010–10: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Fixed 
Dates for First-time Adopters [AASB 2009–11 & AASB 2010–7] (applies to periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013). This Standard makes amendments to AASB 2009–11: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9, and AASB 2010–7: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010). The amendments brought 
in by this Standard ultimately affect AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards and provide relief for first-time adopters from having to reconstruct transactions that 
occurred before their transition date. [The amendments to AASB 2009–11 will only affect early 
adopters of AASB 2009–11 (and AASB 9: Financial Instruments that was issued in December 
2009) as it has been superseded by AASB 2010–7.] This Standard is not expected to impact the 
Group. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, bank loans and overdrafts, finance 
leases, cash and short term deposits.  These activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks: market risk 
(which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Group manages 
these risks in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policy.  The Group uses different methods 
and assumptions to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed at each balance date. 

The Board reviews and approves policies for managing each of the Group’s financial risk areas.  The Group holds 
the following financial instruments: 

2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

FINANCIAL ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents  11,455 1,873 
Trade and other receivables  1,875 2,366 
Other current assets  491 303 
Held to maturity investments  2,750 - 

 16,571 4,542 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
   

Trade and other payables  864 1,021 
Interest bearing liabilities  2,232 2,361 

 3,096 3,382 

a. Market risk 

(i) Foreign currency risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily in respect to the US dollar.   

The Group’s overseas subsidiaries have a US dollar functional currency.  This exposes the Group to 
foreign exchange fluctuations upon conversion to AUD. 

The Group does not enter into any hedging arrangements. 

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2011, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian 
Dollar to the US Dollar that management considers to be reasonably possible, with all other variables 
remaining constant is as follows: 

2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

Change in profit 

— Improvement in AUD to USD by 11% (89) (140) 

— Decline in AUD to USD by 11% 89 140 

Change in equity   

— Improvement in AUD to USD by 11% (89) (140) 

— Decline in AUD to USD by 11% 89 140 

(ii) Price risk 
The Group has no current exposure to commodity and equity securities. 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

(iii) Interest rate risk 
At balance date the Group had a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt.  For further details on interest 
rate risk refer to Note 2e.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2011, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate that 
management considers to be reasonably possible, with all other variables remaining constant would be 
as follows: 

2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

Change in profit 

— Increase in interest rate by 1% 2 2 

— Decrease in interest rate by 1% (2) (2) 

Change in equity   

— Increase in interest rate by 1% 2 2 

— Decrease in interest rate by 1% (2) (2) 

Term deposits have been treated as a floating rate due to the short term nature of the deposits. 

b. Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a third party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Consolidated Group.  The Consolidated Group has adopted the policy of only dealing with credit 
worthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, 
represents the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk. 

c. Liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate unutilised 
borrowing facilities are maintained.  

d. Fair value estimation 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities equal their estimated net fair value. 

e. Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis 

The tables on the next page reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of 
a fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations for the settlement period for all other 
financial instruments.  As such the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet. 
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Consolidated Group  Fixed interest rate maturing
Weighted 

average effective 
interest rate

Floating 
interest rate 

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Non-interest 
bearing 

Total

2011 
%

2010 
%

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

2011
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

2011 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

Financial assets:                

Cash & cash equivalents 4.04% 2.42% 4,955 1,830 6,500 - - - - - - 43 11,455 1,873 

Receivables  - - - - - - - - - - 1,875 2,366 1,875 2,366 

Investments 6.00% - - - 2,750 - - - - - 491 303 3,241 303 

Total financial assets   4,955 1,830 9,250 - - - - - 2,366 2,712 16,571 4,542 

Financial liabilities:               

Trade & sundry payables  - - - - - - - - - - 864 1,021 864 1,021 

Lease liabilities  9.02% 9.55% - - 186 189 46 172 - - - - 232 361 

Related party loan 8.75% 8.75% - - 2,000 - - 2,000 - - - - 2,000 2,000 

Total financial liabilities    - - 2,186 189 46 2,172 - - 864 1,021 3,096 3,382 
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as follows: 

2011 2010 

$’000 $’000 

Less than 6 months 864 1,021 

6 months to 1 year - - 

1 - 5 years - - 

Over 5 years - - 

864 1,021 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 

Management has identified the following significant accounting policies for which significant judgements, 
estimates and assumptions are made.   

a. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

Share-based payment transactions 
From time to time the Company has issued options to directors and employees.  The Company 
measures fair value of share-based payments using the Black-Scholes Pricing Model, using the 
assumptions detailed in note 21.  This formula takes into account the terms and conditions under 
which the instruments were granted.   

Impairment of goodwill and productive assets 
The Group tests goodwill and productive assets for impairment annually.  Goodwill is allocated to 
cash generating units and the carrying value of goodwill and productive assets is assessed based on 
budgeted cash flows over a five year period, discounted at a rate of 17%, taking into account risks 
associated with each unit.  No impairment has been recognised in respect of goodwill at the end of 
the reporting period. 

b. Significant accounting judgements 

Taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia and jurisdictions where it has foreign operations.  
Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.  
Judgement is also required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.  Deferred tax assets are only recognised where it is 
considered more likely than not that they will be recovered through the utilisation of future tax losses. 

Exploration expenditure 
During the year the Group capitalised various items of expenditure to the exploration expenditure 
asset account. The relevant items of expenditure were deemed to be part of the capital cost of 
developing future mining operations, which would then be amortised over the useful life of the mine. 
The key judgement applied in considering whether the costs should be capitalised, is whether costs 
are expected to be recovered through either successful development of the project or sale of the 
relevant mining interests.  Such judgements are undertaken by appropriately qualified persons and 
are based on estimates of commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, capital requirements, 
production costs and geological assumptions and judgements in estimating the size and grade of the 
ore body.  Capitalised exploration expenditure of $20 million was carried forward at the end of the 
reporting period. 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group reports the following operating segments to the chief operating decision maker, being the Board 
of directors of Altura Mining Limited, in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.  

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts reported to the Board are determined in accordance with accounting 
policies that are consistent to those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 

Services Minerals Eliminations Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
2011     
Revenue     

External sales  7,702 254 - 7,956 
Other income 419 673 - 1,092 
Other segments 435 210 (645) - 

Total segment revenue 8,556 1,137 (645) 9,048 
     

Unallocated revenue    - 

Total consolidated revenue    9,048 
     
Segment result 1,250 (2,281) - (1,031) 

Other segments - - - - 
Unallocated expenses net of unallocated 
revenue -

Profit /(loss) before income tax and finance costs    (1,031) 
Finance costs    (204) 
Share of profit of non-controlling interest    (99) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax    (1,334) 
Income tax expense    (439) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year    (1,773) 
    

Assets and Liabilities     
Segment assets 10,063 34,856  44,919 
Unallocated assets    5,860 

Total assets    50,779 
     

Segment liabilities 1,218 2,843  4,061 
Unallocated liabilities    5,816 

Total liabilities    9,877 
     
Other segment information     

Capital expenditure 482 63  545 
Exploration expenditure - 3,049  3,049 
Depreciation and amortisation 633 72  705 

     
Cash flow information     

Net cash flow from operating activities 49 (729)  (680) 
Net cash flow from investing activities (482) (5,510)  (5,992) 
Net cash flow from financing activities (57) 16,475  16,418 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 

Services Minerals Eliminations Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

    
2010     
Revenue     

External sales  8,014 - - 8,014 
Other income 488 1,565 - 2,053 
Other segments 241 456 (697) - 

Total segment revenue 8,744 2,021 (697)  
     

Unallocated revenue    - 

Total consolidated revenue    10,067 
     
Segment result 294 (277) - 17 

Other segments - -  - 
Unallocated expenses net of unallocated 
revenue -

Profit /(loss) before income tax and finance costs    17 
Finance costs (36) (179)  (215) 
Share of profit of non-controlling interest - -  (83) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax    (281) 
Income tax expense (633) -  (633) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year    (914) 
    

Assets and Liabilities     
Segment assets 10,699 19,796  30,495 
Unallocated assets    4,996 

Total assets    35,491 
     

Segment liabilities 2,465 1,441  3,906 
Unallocated liabilities    4,842 

Total liabilities    8,748 
     
Other segment information     

Capital expenditure 336 246  582 
Exploration expenditure - 11,461  11,461 
Depreciation and amortisation 796 69  865 

     
Cash flow information     

Net cash flow from operating activities (1,453) (1,414)  (2,867) 
Net cash flow from investing activities 1,368 (9,940)  (8,572) 
Net cash flow from financing activities 796 11,536  12,332 
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 

Geographical segments 
The Group’s geographical segments are determined based on the location of the Group’s assets. 

Australia Indonesia Other Eliminations Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2011      
Revenue      

External sales 53 7,903 - - 7,956 
Other income 732 360 - - 1,092 
Other segments - - - - - 

Total segment revenue 785 8,263 - - 9,048 
      

Unallocated revenue     - 

Total revenue     9,048 
      

Segment assets 33,041 11,878 - - 44,919 
Unallocated assets     5,860 

Total assets     50,779 

Capital expenditure 173 372 - - 545 
Exploration expenditure 3,049 - - - 3,049 

2010      
Revenue      

External sales - 8,014 - - 8,014 
Other income 1,540 513 - - 2,053 
Other segments 456 240 - (696) - 

Total segment revenue 1,996 8,767 - (696) 10,067 
      

Unallocated revenue     - 

Total revenue     10,067 
      

Segment assets 20,409 10,086 - - 30,495 
Unallocated assets     4,996 

Total assets     35,491 

Capital expenditure 246 336 - - 582 
Exploration expenditure 11,461 - - - 11,461 

The Group has a number of customers to whom it provides services. The Group supplies three external customers in 
the services segment who account for 33% ($2,530,000), 33% ($2,515,000) and 13% ($1,022,000) of external 
revenue (2010: 85%). 
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5. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

   
2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

(a) Revenue from ordinary activities 
 Revenue from rendering of services 7,955 8,014 

 Total sales revenues from ordinary activities 7,955 8,014 

(b) Other revenues from ordinary activities
 Interest received from other corporations 670 44 
 Profit /(loss) on sale of shares - 6 
 Profit /(loss) on sale of assets - 1,466 
 Other revenue 423 537 

 Total other revenues from ordinary activities 1,093 2,053 

 Total revenue 9,048 10,067 

(c) Cost of sales 
 Drilling costs 5,380 5,467 
 Depreciation - plant & equipment 606 741 
 Depreciation - plant & equipment leased - 40 

 Total cost of sales 5,986 6,248 

(d) Other expenses from ordinary activities
 Depreciation - plant & equipment 98 76 
   - plant & equipment under lease - 8 
 Exploration - (4) 
 Option reserve on recognition of bonus element of options 216 35 

 Total other expenses from ordinary activities 314 115 

(e) Borrowing costs  
 Hire purchase interest expense 22 35 
 Interest expense 182 180 

 Total borrowing costs 204 215 
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2011 

cents per 
share 

2010
cents per 

share 
6. EARNINGS /(LOSS) PER SHARE 

 Basic earnings / (loss) per share (0.59) (0.54) 

Basic earnings per share: 
 The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used 

in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows: 

2011 2010
$000 $000

 Earnings (a) (1,773) (914) 

2011 2010
No. No. 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (b) 301,125,914 168,235,764   

 (a) Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 
reconciles to net profit in the income statement as follows: 

2011 2010
$’000 $’000

Net profit/(loss)  (1,773) (914) 

 Earnings used in the calculation of basic EPS (1,773) (914) 

 (b) As at 30 June 2011, Management options on issue had an 
exercise price in excess of the market price and are therefore 
anti-dilutive.  There were 11,250,000 share options outstanding at 
the end of the year, these potential ordinary shares would reduce 
the loss per share from continuing ordinary operations on 
conversion, and hence these potential ordinary shares are not 
dilutive.

(c) As at 30 June 2011, there were 129,570,920 listed share options 
outstanding, these potential ordinary shares would reduce the 
loss per share from continuing ordinary operations on conversion, 
and hence these potential ordinary shares are not dilutive.  
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2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

(a) The components of tax expense comprise: 

Current Tax 
 Current Year 198 399 
 Adjustments in respect of prior periods 131 203 

Deferred Tax 
 Current year deferred tax 110 22 
 Adjustments in respect of prior periods - 9 

 Total income tax expense per income statement 439 633 

(b) The prima facie tax on profit/(loss) before income tax is reconciled to 
the income tax as follows: 

 Profit/(loss) before tax (1,235) (198) 

 Income tax calculated at the Australian rate of 30% (371) (60) 

 Increase in income tax due to:   
 Non-deductible expenses 93 213 
 Share compensation costs 65 10 
 Effect of current year tax losses derecognised 649 335 
 Effect of prior year tax losses derecognised (56) - 
 Under/(over) provision in prior year 131 211 
 Difference in overseas tax rates (73) (76) 

 Income tax expense 439 633 

Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses are only recognised to the 
extent that there are equivalent deferred tax liabilities. The remaining 
tax losses have not been recognised as an asset because recovery of 
the losses is not regarded as probable:  

Tax losses not recognised - revenue 4,148 3,511 

(c)     Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income 

2011 2010
Before

tax
Amount

Tax 
(Expense) 

Benefit

Net of
tax

Amount

Before
tax

Amount

Tax 
(Expense) 

Benefit

Net of
tax

Amount
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

 Exchange differences 
on translating foreign 
controlled entities (1,201) 360 (841)  (273) 82 (191) 

 Non-controlling  
interests 141 (42) 99  119 (36) 83 

(1,060) 318 (742)  (154) 46 (108) 

notes to the finAnciAl stAtements
for the year enDeD 30 june 2011



59Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 2011

Altura Mining Limited and Controlled Entities 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

38

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(d) Tax consolidation system 

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly-owned entities, to 
elect to consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax purposes was substantively enacted on 
21 October 2002. 

Altura Mining Limited and certain of its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries are eligible to consolidate for 
tax purposes and have elected to form an income tax group under the Tax Consolidation Regime effective 
1 July 2005.  The implementation of the tax consolidation group was formally recognised by the ATO on 22 
July 2005 with start date for income tax consolidation 1 July 2005 and Altura Mining Limited as the head 
entity of the group. 

Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity.  
Under the terms of this agreement, Altura Mining Limited and each of the entities in the tax consolidated 
group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on standalone tax 
payer basis.  Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax 
consolidated group. 

2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 Cash at bank and on hand 5,455 1,873 

Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the following at 30 June: 

Cash at bank and on hand 4,780 1,873 

 Deposits held in trust * 175 - 

 Short-term deposits  500 - 

 Cash at bank and on hand 5,455 1,873 

 * The Group is in the process of incorporating a subsidiary in the 
Philippines and these funds are held in trust until incorporation has 
completed and the banking facility has been established. 

9. CURRENT TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Performance bond - 22 
 Trade and other receivables 1,875 2,344 

1,875 2,366 

    
At 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:   

  0-30 31-60 61-90 90+
  days days days days

$000 $000 $000 $000
     
2011 Consolidated 1,473 307 31 64 

     
2010 Consolidated 1,612 221 274 237 

Trade debtors are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 day terms. 
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2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

10. HELD TO MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

Term deposits 8,750 - 

8,750 - 

The term deposits are held to their maturity of less than one year and 
carry a weighted average fixed interest rate of 6.00% (2010 0%). Due 
to their short term nature their carrying value is assumed to 
approximate their fair value. Information about the Group’s exposure 
to credit risk is disclosed in note 2.

11. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 Financial assets (security deposits) 226 82 
 Prepayments 265 221 

491 303 

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Motor 
vehicles 

$’000 

Office
equipment 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Land

$’000

Exploration  

$’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

under lease
$’000

Total

$’000
2011 

Gross carrying amount 
Balance at 30 June 2010 625 343 5,382 643 131 790 7,914
Additions 210 81 247 - 7 - 545
Exchange difference (126) (17) (792) (3) - (9) (947)
Disposals (36) (1) (9) - - (58) (104)

Balance at 30 June 2011 673 406 4,828 640 138 723 7,408
   
Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at 30 June 2010 503 169 2,600 - 65 286 3,623
Depreciation expense 62 57 494 - 22 70 705
Exchange difference (96) (6) (402) - - - (504)
Disposals (35) (1) (2) - - (11) (49)

Balance at 30 June 2011 434 219 2,690 - 87 345 3,775
Net book value  
as at 30 June 2011 239 187 2,138 640 51 378 3,633
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

 Motor 
vehicles 

$’000 

Office
equipment 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Land

$’000

Exploration  

$’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

under lease
$’000

Total

$’000
2010 

Gross carrying amount 
Balance at 30 June 2009 822 274 8,084 644 74 779 10,677
Additions 42 98 340 - 57 45 582
Exchange difference (31) (3) (151) (1) - (1) (187)
Disposals (208) (26) (2,891) - - (33) (3,158)

Balance at 30 June 2010 625 343 5,382 643 131 790 7,914
   
Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at 30 June 2009 804 147 3,416 - 47 215 4,629
Depreciation expense (71) 44 778 - 18 96 865
Exchange difference (30) (1) (68) - - - (99)
Disposals (200) (21) (1,526) - - (25) (1,772)

Balance at 30 June 2010 503 169 2,600 - 65 286 3,623
Net book value  
as at 30 June 2010 122 174 2,782 643 66 504 4,291

2011 
$’000

2010
$’000

13. EXPLORATION and EVALUATION 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure at cost:

 Carried forward from previous year 16,942 5,481 
 Incurred during the year 3,049 11,461 
 Disposed during year - - 

19,991 16,942 
 Written off during the year - - 

 Total exploration expenditure 19,991 16,942 

The recovery of expenditure carried forward is dependent upon the 
discovery of commercially viable mineral and other natural resource 
deposits, their development and exploitation, or alternatively their sale. 

The Company's title to certain mining tenements is subject to Ministerial 
approval and may be subject to successful outcomes of native title issues. 
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2011 
$’000

2010
$’000

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 Goodwill 
 Cost 4,529 4,529 
 Accumulated impairment loss - - 

4,529 4,529 

 Goodwill 
 Balance at beginning of year 4,529 4,529 
 Additions - - 
 Disposals - - 
 Impaired losses - - 

 Closing balance at end of year 4,529 4,529 

After initial recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is 
allocated at recognition to its associated cash generating units.  Goodwill 
is not amortised but is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis or 
whenever there is an indication of impairment.  (Refer Note 3(a)).   

15. CURRENT PAYABLES 

 Trade payables 1,376 857 
 Goods and services tax payable 11 164 

1,387 1,021 

16. CURRENT INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

 Other current loans - 53 
 Hire purchase liabilities (Note 30) 186 136 
 Related party loan (Note 24) 2,000 - 

 Total interest bearing liabilities 2,186 189 

Hire purchase liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the assets 
revert to the owner in the event of default. 

The Company has unused loan facilities available to it at year end from 
Hartco Nominees Pty Ltd (refer Note 24) of $1,000,000.  
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2011 
$’000

2010
$’000

17. CURRENT PROVISIONS 

 Employee benefits 442 524 

442 524 

Movements in Provisions 

 Short term employee benefits 
 Opening balance 524 593 
 Additional provision 98 127 
 Expense incurred (180) (196)

 Balance at year end 442 524 

The aggregate employee entitlement liability recognised and included 
in the financial statements is as follows: 

Provision for employee entitlements: 
 Current  442 524 

 Total  442 524 

18. CURRENT TAXATION & DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES & ASSETS

(a) Liabilities 
 Current
 Income tax payable - - 

 Non-Current
 Deferred tax liability comprises:   
 Tax allowances relating to exploration 5,816 4,842 

5,816 4,842 

(b) Assets
 Current
 Income tax refundable 195 191 

 Non-Current
 Deferred assets comprises:   
 Provisions 319 332 
 Revenue losses 9,524 7,939 
 Revenue losses not recognised (4,148) (3,511)
 Property, plant and equipment - 186 
 Prepayments - 51 
 Other 165 (1)

5,860 4,996 
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2011 
$’000

2010
$’000

18. CURRENT TAXATION & DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
 & ASSETS (Continued) 

(c) Reconciliation of:  
 Gross movements   
 The overall movement in the deferred tax account is as follows:  
 Opening balance – net deferred taxes 154 184 
 (Charge) / credit to income statement (110) (30)

 Closing balance – net deferred taxes 44 154 

Net deferred tax assets for the Indonesian entities are carried forward 
as it is probable that future tax profits will be available against which 
temporary differences can be utilised. 

19. NON-CURRENT INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

 Related party loan (Note 24) - 2,000 
 Hire purchase liabilities (Note 30) 46 172 

46 2,172 

Hire purchase liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the 
assets revert to the owner in the event of default. 

20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
2011 
$’000

2010
$’000

Issued capital

 326,249,913 (2010: 195,351,787)  
ordinary shares issued and fully paid 55,239 38,781

2011 2010 

No. $’000 No. $’000
Fully paid ordinary shares     

 Balance at the beginning of the 
financial year

195,351,787 38,781 127,730,023 27,401 

 Share issue costs  (572)  (547) 
 Rights issue 82,391,322 10,711 63,494,057 10,794 
 Issue as private placement 47,843,201 6,219 1,621,419 276 
 Issue on exercise of options 663,603 100 2,506,288 857 

 Balance at the end of the financial year 326,249,913 55,239 195,351,787 38,781 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the rights to dividends.  Ordinary shares have 
no par value. 

Reserves

Option reserve 
The option reserve records items recognised as expenses on the valuation of share options. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign 
controlled subsidiary. 
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20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (Continued) 

Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes to the consolidated 
entity's approach to capital management during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 
are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  The Board effectively manages the Group’s capital 
by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these 
risks and in the market. These responses include the management of debt levels and by share issues. 

21. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

Options

The Company has in place an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) under which employees and directors 
of the Consolidated Group may be issued on a discretionary basis with options over ordinary shares of 
Altura Mining Limited. 

The purpose of this plan is to: 

• recognise the ability and efforts of employees and directors of the Company who have contributed to 
the success of the Company; 

• provide an incentive to employees and directors to achieve the long term objectives of the Company 
and improve the performance of the Company; and 

• attract persons of experience and ability to the Company and foster and promote loyalty between the 
Company and its employees. 

The options automatically lapse if they are not exercised before the expiry date, or when employment 
ceases with Altura Mining Limited. 

The employee share options expiring on 31 July 2011 were issued for no consideration.  Under the ESOP 
rules in place at the time of their issue, 50% vested after twelve months from the issue date and the 
remaining 50% vested after eighteen months from the issue date.   

The employee share options expiring on 30 September 2015 were also issued for no consideration.  
However, these options were issued under the current ESOP rules which prescribe a three year vesting 
period before they can be exercised. 

All options subject to the carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights, until converted into ordinary 
shares. 

Historical volatility has been used as the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it assumed 
that this is indicative of future trends, which may not eventuate.

The Company had the following options on issue under the employee share option plan as at 30 June 
2011: 

Number Issue date Exercise price Expiry date 
650,000 11 August 2008 $0.50 31 July 2011 

3,100,000 1 October 2010 $0.20 30 September 2015 
7,000,000 13 December 2010 $0.20 30 September 2015 

The Company had the following options on issue as at 30 June 2011 issued outside the employee share 
option plan, all of which vested on date of issue: 

Number Issue date Exercise price Expiry date 
500,000 17 December 2008 $0.40 31 December  2011 



Altura Mining Limited Annual Report 201166

Altura Mining Limited and Controlled Entities 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

45

21. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 

2011 2010 
Number of 

options 
Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$

Outstanding at the beginning of the 
year 

1,550,000 0.48 5,925,000 0.45 

Granted 11,050,000 0.20 - - 

Forfeited / expired (1,350,000) 0.31 (3,675,000) 0.49 

Exercised - - (700,000) 0.27 

Outstanding at year-end 11,250,000 0.23 1,550,000 0.48 

Exercisable at year-end 1,150,000 0.46 1,550,000 0.48 

During the year ended 30 June 2011, a total of 4,050,000 options were issued to senior staff on 1 October 2010 
under the Company’s ESOP with a further 7,000,000 issued to directors on 13 December 2010 (following 
approval at the Annual General Meeting). 

The options have an exercise price of $0.20 with an expiry date of 30 September 2015.  The options have a 
vesting date of 1 October 2013 and are designed as a long-term incentive to reward performance. 

When options are issued, they are valued at grant date using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The inputs 
and assumptions for options currently on issue at 30 June 2011 were: 
     

 Granted on
11 Aug 2008 

Granted on 
1 Oct 2010 

Granted on
13 Dec 2010 

     

Option exercise price ($)  $0.50 $0.20 $0.20 

Expected volatility (%)  93.06% 105.66% 105.66% 

Dividend yield (%)  0% 0% 0% 

Risk-free interest rate (%)  7.25% 4.95% 5.42% 

Expected life of option (years)  3 5 5 

Weighted average fair value at 
grant date 

 $0.14 $0.0893 $0.0942 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee 
benefit expense were $215,579 (2010: $35,285). 

2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

22. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
Audit or review of the financial report 134 118 

134 118 
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23. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

(a) Names and positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the 
financial year are: 

Directors

James Brown  Managing Director  (appointed 21 September 2010) 
Paul Mantell  Executive Director 
Allan Buckler  Non-Executive Director 
Dan O’Neill   Non-Executive Director 
BT Kuan   Non-Executive Director 

Key Management Personnel

Noel Young   Group Financial Controller  and Company Secretary 
Damon Cox   Company Secretary    

(b) Key management personnel remuneration 

2011 
$

2010
$

Short-term employee benefits 956,076 1,176,599 
Long-term employee benefits - - 
Post employment benefits 54,603 69,988 
Termination benefits - 58,967 
Share based payments 144,484 13,191 

1,155,163 1,318,745 

(c) Option holdings 

Number of options held by key management personnel 

2011 Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted as 
compen-

sation

Exercised/
lapsed 

Purchased 
in rights 

issue

Balance at 
end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

Unvested

J Brown 200,000 2,000,000 - 400,000 2,600,000 600,000 2,000,000
P Mantell - 2,000,000 - 3,423,738 5,423,738 3,423,738 2,000,000
A Buckler - 1,000,000 - 27,613,384 28,613,384 27,613,384 1,000,000
D O’Neill - 1,000,000 - 333,334 1,333,334 333,334 1,000,000
B Kuan 250,000 1,000,000 (250,000) 395,134 1,395,134 395,134 1,000,000
N Young - 350,000 - 509,832 859,832 509,832 350,000
D Cox 100,000 350,000 - - 450,000 100,000 350,000

Details of options granted as compensation and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together 
with terms and conditions of the options, can be found in the Directors’ Report and under Note 21. 
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23. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION (Continued) 

2010 Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted as 
compen-

sation 

Exercised/
lapsed 

Purchased 
in rights 

issue 

Balance at 
end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

Unvested

P Mantell - - - - - - -
A Buckler - - - - - - -
D O’Neill - - - - - - -
B Kuan 500,000 - (250,000) - 250,000 250,000 -
J Brown 200,000 - - - 200,000 200,000 -
K Mayes - - - - - - -
N Young - - - - - - -
D Cox 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000 -

(d) Share holdings 

Number of shares held by key management personnel 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Altura Mining 
Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are 
set out below.  Other changes during the year include key management personnel who have resigned 
during the year as per the Directors’ Report. 

   

2011 Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Purchased  
/ (sold)  

Purchased 
in rights 

issue 

Received 
on the 

exercise 
of options 

Other
changes 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

J Brown 1,612,262 - 400,000 - - 2,012,262 

P Mantell 2,135,607 - 3,423,738 - - 5,559,345 

A Buckler 27,645,752 274,324 27,613,384 - - 55,533,460 

D O’Neill 200,000 - 333,334 - - 533,334 

B Kuan 592,700 - 395,134 - - 987,834 

N Young 314,747 - 509,832 - - 824,579 

D Cox - - - - - - 

2010 Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Purchased  
/ (sold)  

Purchased 
in rights 

issue 

Received 
on the 

exercise 
of options 

Other
changes 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

P Mantell   1,020,000 66,417 1,049,190 - - 2,135,607 

A Buckler 16,116,596 500,000 10,599,547 - 429,609 27,645,752 

D O’Neill      - 200,000 - - - 200,000 

B Kuan      - 160,800 181,900 250,000 - 592,700 

J Brown   1,074,841 - 537,421 - - 1,612,262 

K Mayes      100,000 50,000 138,434 - (288,434) - 

N Young - 244,747 70,000 - - 314,747 

D Cox - - - - - - 
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24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 

  Country of 
incorporation 

Ownership interest 

Name of entity 
2011 

%
2010

%
Parent entity 
Altura Mining Limited 

   

Controlled entities 
Altura Exploration Pty Ltd (formerly Australian Tantalum 
Pty Ltd) 

Australia 100% 100% 

 Australian Garnet Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 Minvest International Corporation Mauritius 100% 100% 
 Minvest Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
 Altura Drilling Pty Ltd (formerly Haddington Drilling 

Services Pty Ltd) Australia 100% 100% 
 Altura Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100% - 
 PT Asiadrill Bara Utama Indonesia 100% 100% 
 PT Velseis Indonesia (PMA) Indonesia   50%   50% 
 PT Altura Indonesia (formerly PT Minvest Trinusa Utama) Indonesia 100% 100% 
 PT Minvest Mitra Pembangunan Indonesia 100% 100% 
 PT Jasa Tambang Pratana Indonesia 100% 100% 
 PT Cakrawala Jasa Pratama Indonesia 100% 100% 
 PT Minvest Jasatama Teknik Indonesia 100% 100% 
 PT Cybertek Global Utama Indonesia 100% 100% 

Altura Mining Limited, Altura Exploration Pty Ltd and Australian Garnet Pty Ltd are included within the tax 
consolidation group. 

Transactions within the wholly-owned group 

The wholly-owned group includes: 
• the ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group; and 
• wholly-owned controlled entities. 

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned Group is Altura Mining Limited. 

During the year the parent entity provided financial assistance to its wholly owned controlled entities by way 
of intercompany loans.  The loans are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed term of repayment.  Sales 
and purchases between related parties within the Group have been eliminated upon consolidation.  There 
were no further sales or purchases from related parties during the financial year. 

Transactions with directors 

During the year the parent entity maintained a loan from Hartco Nominees Pty Ltd (a nominee service 
company owned by an unrelated company).  The loan is unsecured with interest being payable monthly at 
a commercial interest rate.  At 30 June 2011, the balance outstanding was $2,000,000 (2010 $2,000,000).  
Allan Buckler, a Director of Altura, holds shares in Altura through Hartco Nominees Pty Ltd.  Total interest 
paid to Hartco during the year was $175,000 (2010 $174,820). 
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25. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a) For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and investments 
in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the statements of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows: 

2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

Cash at bank and on hand (Note 8) 5,455 1,873 

Cash per statement of cash flows 5,455 1,873 

(b) Reconciliation of operating profit/(loss) after income tax to net 
cash used in operating activities 

Operating profit/(loss) after income tax (1,674) (831) 

Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items: 
Option and share pricing 216 35 
Loss/(gain) on sale of non-current assets - (1,466) 
Loss/(gain) on sale of investments - (6) 
Net gain on debt defeasance (293) (500) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 705 866 
Foreign currency exchange rate movement 439 336 
(Increase) / decrease in current tax liability (166) (620) 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances (110) (30) 

 Changes in assets and liabilities: 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 490 (436) 
(Decrease)/increase in other creditors and accruals (155) (174) 
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and prepayments (50) 28 
Increase/(decrease) in current provisions (82) (69) 

 Net cash from operating activities (680) (2,867) 

(c) Acquisition of entities 
No cash was outlaid for acquisitions. 

(d) Non-cash financing and investing activities 

There were no non-cash financing and investing activities during the 
year. 
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Parent 
2011 

$’000 
2010
$’000 

26. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE  

(a) Summary of financial information  

 The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the 
following aggregate amounts: 

Balance sheet 

 Current assets 11,931 1,559 
 Total assets 51,563 36,142 
 Current liabilities 321 390 
 Total liabilities 2,321 2,416 

 Net assets 49,242 33,726 

 Equity 
 Contributed equity 55,239 38,781 
 Reserves 308 135 
 Retained profits/(accumulated losses) (6,305) (5,190)  

Total shareholder equity 49,242 33,726 

 Profit/(loss) for the year (2,246) 1,829 

 Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (2,246) 1,829 

(b) Contingent liabilities 

 Contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 28.  

(c) Contractual commitments  

 No later than one year 310 310 
 Later than one year and not later than five years 713 978 
 Later than five years - - 

1,023 1,288 

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In August 2011, the Company received a duties assessment notice from the Western Australian Office of 
State Revenue for stamp duty on the Company’s 30% clawback in the Mt Webber project during the 
2009/10 financial year.  The duty was assessed at $475,000, plus a penalty tax of $47,000 due to late 
lodgement of the agreement with the Office of State Revenue.  The Company has included the amount as 
part of its Exploration and evaluation expenditure (note 13) and in its Trade payables (note 15) for the 
2011 year. 

In July and August 2011, $18.5 million was received by the Company on exercise of listed 15 cent options 
that were issued in September 2010 as part of a rights issue. 
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities for which no provision is included in the 
accounts are as follows: 

2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

 The bankers of the Consolidated Group and parent entity have issue 
undertakings and guarantees to the Department of Mines and Energy 
and various other entities. 

                
251       225       

The Consolidated Group has a 30% holding in the Mt Webber Exploration UJV.  The manager of the 
Exploration UJV is yet to advise the Group’s contribution towards its share of exploration costs to 30 June 
2011. Management expects the contribution to be approximately $2,000,000. 

No losses are anticipated in respect of any of the above contingent liabilities.    

29. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 

In order to maintain an interest in the mining and exploration tenements in which the Consolidated Group is 
involved, the Consolidated Group is committed to meet the conditions under which the tenements were 
granted and the obligations of any joint venture agreements.  The timing and amount of exploration 
expenditure commitments and obligations of the Consolidated Group are subject to the minimum 
expenditure commitments required by the relevant State Departments of Minerals and Energy, and may 
vary significantly from the forecast based upon the results of the work performed which will determine the 
prospectivity of the relevant area of interest.   

(a) Exploration work 

The Company has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work and expend minimum amounts 
on its mining tenements.  Obligations for the next 12 months are expected to amount to $509,703 (2010: 
$659,450).  No estimate has been given of expenditure commitments beyond 12 months as this is 
dependent on the directors’ ongoing assessment of operations and, in certain instances, native title 
negotiations. 

(b) Asset acquisitions 

The Consolidated Group has no commitments for asset acquisitions at 30 June 2011. 

(c) Operating lease 

The Consolidated Group has entered into operating leases for office premises at Brookwater in Qld, at 
Subiaco in WA, at Jakarta and Balikpapan in Indonesia.  The Consolidated Group also has leases in 
relation to vehicles and office equipment.   

The commitment in respect of these leases is: 
2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

 No later than one year 491 471 
 Later than one year and not later than five years 837 1,024 
 Later than five years - - 

1,328 1,495 
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30. HIRE PURCHASE COMMITMENTS 

Hire purchase agreements 
The consolidated entity will acquire the plant and equipment 
 at the conclusion of the respective agreements. 

2011 
$’000 

2010
$’000 

 No later than one year 186 136 
 Later than one year and not later than five years 46 172 
 Later than five years - - 

232 308 

Included in the financial statements as:
 Current hire purchase liabilities (Note 16) 186 136 
 Non-current hire purchase liabilities (Note 19) 46 172 

232 308 

31. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The Consolidated Group has adopted the following new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
issued by the AASB which are mandatory to apply to the current period.  Disclosures required by these 
Standards that are deemed material have been included in this financial report on the basis that they 
represent a significant change in information from that previously made available. 

• AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project; 

• AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions; 

• AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights 
Issues;

• AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments; 
• AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19; 

and 
• AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements Project. 

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the amounts for the current period or prior 
periods. 
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In the directors’ opinion: 

 

(a) The financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 

a. comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

b. give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and 
its performance for the financial year ended on that date; 

(b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as set 
out in note 1; 

(c) the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the remuneration report in the Directors’ report 
comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, the Corporations Act 
2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debt as and when they 
become due and payable. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
required under section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 
  
 
__________________________ 
BT Kuan 
Director 
 
 
 
Signed at Brisbane this 6th day of September 2011 
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE OF MINERAL PROPERTIES 
 

Location Tenement Number Holder / Applicant Interest Status 
     
WESTERN AUSTRALIA    
     
Balline E 70/2509 Australian Garnet 100% Granted 
 E 70/2546 Australian Garnet 100% Granted 
 L 70/134 Australian Garnet 100% Granted 
 M 70/1280 Australian Garnet 100% Granted 
     
Mt Hall E 47/1051 Attgold 100% Application (applied 5/5/00) 
     
Pilbara E 45/2244 Attgold 100% Application (applied 1/9/00) 
 E 45/2268 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 E 45/2273 REM 100% Application (applied 24/11/00) 
 E 45/2277 Attgold 100% Application (applied 4/12/00) 
 E 45/2287 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 E 45/2288 Altura Exploration 100% Application (applied 27/12/00) 
 E 45/2312 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 E 45/2346 Altura Exploration 100% Application (applied 3/8/01) 
 E 45/3488 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 E 45/3645 Altura Exploration 100% Application (applied 17/3/10) 
 P 45/2758 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
     
Smithfield E 70/2254 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
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ADDITIONAL ASX INFORMATION 
 
 

SCHEDULE OF MINERAL PROPERTIES (CONT’D) 
 

Location Tenement Number Holder / Applicant Interest Status 
     
NORTHERN TERRITORY    
     
Mt Shoobridge EL 22186 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 23105 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 24528 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 25181 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 ERL 88 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 MCN 60 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 MLN 296 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 MLN 544 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
     
     
Finniss Range EL 24773 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 24774 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 25521 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 25603 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 25604 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 26399 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 26467 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 26469 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
 EL 26932 Altura Exploration 100% Granted 
     
Tanami ELA 26626 Altura Exploration 100% Application (applied 04/02/08) 
 ELA 26627 Altura Exploration 100% Application (applied 04/02/08) 
 ELA 26628 Altura Exploration 100% Application (applied 04/02/08) 
     

 
 

Key to Tenement Type: Key to Parties: 
    
E, EL Exploration Licence Altura Mining Altura Mining Limited 
M, ML Mining Lease Altura Exploration Altura Exploration Pty Ltd 
G General Purpose Lease Australian Garnet Australian Garnet Pty Ltd 
L Miscellaneous Licence Attgold Attgold Pty Ltd 
P Prospecting Licence REM REM Pty Ltd 
EPM Exploration Permit   
ERL Exploration Retention Licence   
MCN Mineral Claim Northern   
MLN Mineral Lease Northern   
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

Shareholder Details 
The issued capital of the company as at 30 September 2011 consists of 449,872,181 fully paid ordinary shares.  
 
Distribution of Shareholdings and Option holder as at 30 September 2011 
 Fully Paid Ord Shares 
Number of holders 1,974 
Holders of less than a marketable parcel 230 
 
Number of holders in the following distribution categories: 
 
 Fully Paid 

Ordinary Shares 
Unlisted 
Options 

0 – 1,000 144 - 
1,001 – 5,000 222 - 
5,001 – 10,000 272 - 
10,001 – 100,000 1,019 - 
100,001 and over 317 14 

 1,974 14 

 
 
Twenty Largest Shareholders – Fully Paid Shares 
The names of the twenty largest shareholders are as follows: 
 
Rank Holder Name Units % of Issued 

  1 Hartco Nominees Pty Ltd 82,642,836 18.37% 
  2 AC Buckler 41,825,427 9.30% 
  3 MT Smith 41,710,822 9.27% 
  4 Navibell Services Limited 34,892,128 7.76% 
  5 Farjoy Pty Ltd 29,471,382 6.55% 
  6 JR Caldon 19,522,097 4.34% 
  7 Crescent Nominees Limited 11,084,563 2.46% 
  8 PK & MA Mantell 8,913,083 1.98% 
  9 Rothstein Pty Ltd 6,496,183 1.44% 
10 D & H Mason Investments Pty Ltd 4,500,000 1.00% 
11 Buttonwood Nominees Pty Ltd 3,900,000 0.87% 
12 I Preece 3,300,000 0.73% 
13 PYC Investments Pty Ltd 3,167,885 0.70% 
14 DB Watts 3,034,250 0.67% 
15 VC & JE Wheatley 2,821,802 0.63% 
16 Pavwood Pty Ltd 2,777,992 0.62% 
17 Central West Electrical Pty Ltd 2,750,185 0.61% 
18 Sand King Pty Ltd 2,545,834 0.57% 
19 M F Custodians Limited 2,076,965 0.46% 
20 JS Brown 2,044,693 0.45% 

TOTAL  309,478,127 68.79% 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION 

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 

Substantial Shareholders 
The names of substantial shareholders as disclosed in substantial shareholder notices received by the Company are: 
 

Holder Name Shares 
AC Buckler (Hartco Nominees Pty Ltd) 83,146,845 
MT Smith (Hartco Nominees Pty Ltd) 83,032,240 
Farjoy Pty Ltd 29,471,382 

 
 
Voting Rights 

Ordinary Shares 
 
On a show of hands, every person present who is a Shareholder or a proxy, attorney or Representative of a Shareholder 
has one vote.  On a poll, every person present who is a Shareholder or a proxy, attorney or Representative of a 
Shareholder has one vote for each fully paid share held. 
 
On Market Buy Back 
 
There is no current on market buy back of Altura shares. 
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“we have a clear vision, anD we 
have the right people across 
all parts of our business to 
achieve it. together, we are 
on a pathway to success. i look 
forwarD to taking the next 
steps with all of you.”
– james brown, managing Director



Building 8, 22 Magnolia Drive 
BROOKWATER QLD 4300

Telephone: +61 7 3814 6900 
Facsimile: +61 7 3814 6911 
Email: cosec@alturamining.com

www.alturamining.com


